
Adult Commissioning Committee 

Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.

Sian Roxborough

Proper Officer

The council is now holding virtual meetings. This plays a part in helping us to maintain
the safety of the public, staff and councillors.

The City Mayor has asked that, as far as possible, there is still public involvement and 
input into the decision-making process. 

Therefore, should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, 
which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by 
sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. 

Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place. 

Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus

DATE: Wednesday, 9 September 2020

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting

AGENDA

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 8th July 2020 (Pages 1 - 6)

ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE 

4  Finance Report (Pages 7 - 20)

5  Mental Health Update (Pages 21 - 50)

6  Integrated Care / Community Update (Pages 51 - 84)

Public Document Pack

https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus


ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

7  Adult Commissioning Report (Pages 85 - 92)

8  Any Other Business 

9  Dates of Future Meetings 

Wednesday 14 October 2020 at 14:00
Wednesday 11 November 2020 at 14:00
Wednesday 13 January 2021 at 14:00
Wednesday 10 February 2021 at 14:00
Wednesday 10 March 2021 at 14:00

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



MINUTES OF ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

Wednesday 8 July 2020, 14:00 – 15:33 via MS Teams

Present:
Cllr Jim Cammell (JC) Executive Support Member for Social Care & Mental Health - SCC
Mr David Flinn (DF) Neighbourhood Lead – CCG
Mrs Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer – SCC
Cllr Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance & Support Services
Cllr Tracy Kelly (TK) Statutory Deputy City Mayor and Lead Member for Housing & 

Neighbourhoods - CCG
Dr David McKelvey (DMcK) Neighbourhood Lead – CCG
Mrs Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mrs Charlotte Ramsden CR) Strategic Director Place - SCC
Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT) Medical Director – CCG - chair
Mr David Warhurst (DH) Chief Finance Officer – CCG

In Attendance
Mr Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mrs Gillian McLauchlan (GM) Deputy Director of Public Health – SCC
Ms Claire Vaughan (CV) Head of Medicines Optimisation
Ms Carol Eddleston (CAE) Senior Democratic Services Advisor – SCC

Apologies
Mr Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer – CCG
Dr Tom Regan (TR) Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG
Cllr Gina Reynolds (GR) Lead Member for Adult Services, Health & Wellbeing – SCC – co-

chair
Mrs Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation

1. Apologies and Declarations of Interest

a) Apologies
The above apologies were noted.

b) Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest in any of the items on the agenda.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2. Minutes of Proceedings

2a. Minutes of the meeting held on 13 May 2020

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 May were approved as a correct record.

3a Matters arising from the meeting held on 11 March 2020

Minute 5(b) – NWAS performance to be proposed to the GM Joint Health Scrutiny Committee for a 
scrutiny review

It was reported that the Statutory Scrutiny Officer at Greater Manchester Combined Authority had 
confirmed that the work of the joint committee was currently on hold, but had suggested that a 
review of NWAS performance might not be ruled out at some point in the future, depending on the 
scope of what was being asked. The current chair of the Joint Health Scrutiny was particularly 
interested in Ambulance response times and the joint committee had been due to visit NWAS HQ 
the week before lockdown began but the visit had been cancelled. 

Minute 8(b) – Salford Women’s Centre – commissioning and referral process

In response to claims by the Women’s Centre that they had seen an increase in referrals for 
counselling from Six Degrees, Commissioners had raised the issue with Six Degrees.  Six Degrees 
were not able to identify making any referrals for counselling in the last 12 months so were making 
contact with the management team at the Women’s Centre to improve understanding and re-
establish links/relationship.

3. Items for Decision

3a) NHS 111 – Contract Extension – North West Ambulance Service (NWAS)

DW presented a report outlining regional agreement to extend the current NHS 111 contract for 
three years from 1 October 2020. Prior to Covid-19 there had been a decision to move to a direct 
award subject to agreement on the future model and financial costs. With the onset of the 
pandemic, however, due to the pressure that had been put on all front line NHS services, in 
particular the Ambulance Service, it had been mutually agreed in early March to suspend discussions 
around the development of the specification and direct award until post Covid-19. 

The current patient management system in the 111 service and clinical hub was not fit for purpose 
and NWAS would be unable to make the necessary investment into that system without a contract 
in place. The longer term plan was to integrate the 999 and 111 services and systems, which would 
be much more efficient and clearly better from a patient perspective.

The contract extension would be subject to an annual maximum uplift of £4.7m, of which £164k was 
attributable to Salford, with exact costs to be agreed following further discussions with NWAS and to 
be reviewed annually. It was acknowledged that this additional cost was not in current budgets but 
localities would be working closely with NWAS to identify key priorities and the figures may 
consequently be lower in reality. It was important to make NWAS aware of our expectations in 
relation to deliverables, contract monitoring and reporting back.

HG reported that demand for the service had surged during the pandemic with in excess of 4,000 
calls per month triaged for Salford patients and the committee acknowledged that demand for the 
service might increase even further as the pandemic eased so it was vital that it was fit for purpose.

Page 2



In response to questions from DMcK it was confirmed that the total uplift was proportionate to the 
contribution each locality paid and the total uplift was in the region of 23%. The contract was 
currently managed on a regional basis, i.e. North West, but it was understood that the intention had 
been for a new commissioning configuration to allow it to be negotiated sub-regionally, i.e. Greater 
Manchester.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee approved the additional costs to the integrated fund 
over the next three financial years, of up to a maximum of £496,146 in total, to allow an 
extension to the current NHS 111 contract in light of the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
urgent need to stabilise service.

4. Items for Assurance
a) Integrated Fund Financial Plan Report (2020/21)

DW presented the Integrated Fund budgets for Adults’ Services and highlighted the main changes in 
the financial plan from the previously agreed Partnership Agreement (2019/20 to 2023/24). The 
report articulated that pre COVID 19, savings of over £2m would have been required to deliver a 
balanced budget, but this was a much improved financial position from 2019/20 outturn.  Opening 
budgets included funding for the National Living Wage which was estimated at £2.9m as well as the 
locality’s commitment to move Adult Social Care (ASC) staff to £9 per hour from October 2020.

In a COVID environment, the NHS had received a new financial regime that covered only to the end 
of July, with national guidance imminently expected. This included CCGs receiving revised allocations 
that only covered the same period and a clear steer that there should be no new non COVID 
investment.  With this in mind, it was increasingly important to consider future individual business 
cases in the wider context of the annual business plan and system strategic priorities which were 
included in the next agenda item.

JH explained that the city council was currently reviewing its revenue and capital budgets as the loss 
of earnings/costs to the Council of the pandemic was estimated to be in the region of £57m, as 
against an expected allocation from the government of £16m. 

DW observed that finances had never been so difficult but he firmly believed that the fact that 
Salford worked in an integrated way put Salford in a better position than some other localities.

The committee was mindful that some care home providers were now suffering financial distress 
due to the number of excess deaths from the pandemic and CR confirmed that a block booking 
arrangement that had been due to expire at the end of June had been extended. Whilst this had 
been done to protect the fragile care home market, some beds that were being paid for were 
inevitably empty and this would be kept under review in light of the financial pressures on 
commissioners. DW confirmed that these costs were currently reclaimable as part of Covid costs but 
it was not known how long this would continue. Salford’s monthly Covid costs stood at 
approximately £1m.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted:

- the pre Covid-19 opening financial position of the integrated fund and the initial savings target 
of £2.0m, 

- the risks associated with Covid-19 and examples of impacts on the integrated fund, and
- the next steps, including the CCG’s financial regime expected mid July 2020.

Page 3



b) Annual Business Plan and Adults Advisory Board System Strategic Priorities 

KP presented the current commissioning work plan for 2020/21 for adult services. The report 
summarised planning for the year along with the impact and context of Covid-19 response and 
recovery. It also outlined a set of Strategic System Priorities which had been agreed by 
commissioners, partners and providers of adult services and which would be worked on 
collaboratively during 2020/21 and beyond, with progress reported to the committee throughout 
the year.

The work plans were put together on an assumption that there would be full staffing capacity to 
deliver them, but further work was required to reflect the true amount of work required as part of 
the longer term Covid-19 recovery phase and a certain degree of flexibility was to be expected.

CR explained that recent discussions between the Adults’ Advisory Board and the Covid-19 Adults 
Health & Care Coordination Group had led to a new set of six agreed strategic system priorities. It 
had been recognised that the Covid response had necessitated a focus on actions which were 
necessary immediately and less perhaps on opportunities for progressing integration. Adult Social 
Care was the second highest priority as it was important to have a sustainable plan going forward.

Members welcomed the report and the planning that was underway in the midst of so many 
‘unknowns’ at the moment, particularly in terms of finances and the real possibility of a second 
wave. They looked forward to seeing in more detail how the workplans would address a number of 
areas such as climate change, social value, inequalities and housing. They recognised that it was 
crucial for these workplans to align to the Locality Plan.  It was clear that the effect of the pandemic 
had varied considerably among different communities and that it had exacerbated existing 
inequalities, with those who were more vulnerable due to their place of residence, type of work and 
modes of transport available to them had been more seriously impacted. 

CR reported that the Council had collected a great deal of information from residents of the city 
about what they had found difficult and what they had found particularly helpful over recent 
months. It was timely now to triangulate all the intelligence received and look at what had been 
learned about what had been & could be delivered differently and how to adapt this to a more 
person centred offer in the future. KP also agreed to bring to the committee in due course the CCG’s 
Engagement Annual Report.

CR agreed to put DMcK in touch with the council’s Strategic Director Place who was leading on the 
council’s approach to environmental sustainability.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee agreed the Adults Commissioning Workplan at Appendix 2, 
noting that it was subject to iterations for reasons outlined in the report, and noted the Adults 
Strategic System Priorities work.

ACTION: KP and CR to schedule reports to committee on CCG engagement activity and learning 
from contact with the city’s residents in the course of the pandemic so far.

CR to put DMcK in touch with Ben Dolan, Strategic Director Place, Salford City Council to discuss 
the environmental and climate change plan.

Page 4



5. Any Other Business

GMc reported that testing information was now being reported to Directors of Public Health in 
terms of infection rate per 100,000. Last week’s figures for Salford had shown a slight increase on 
the previous week from 6.2 cases per 100,000 to 6.6 per 100,000 but an increase of that size was not 
considered to be of particular concern. 

The Public Health team was continuing to look closely at the infection rate, admission rate, ICU 
occupancy and deaths. ‘Observed’ rates were compared to ‘Expected’ rates created by modelling 
and if a locality exceeded the expected rate on two or more days out of seven it would be RAG rated 
as red. Salford was currently rated green but experience elsewhere in Greater Manchester (GM) had 
proven that this could change very quickly. There was currently a smattering of cases spread over a 
number of localities in GM rather than a number of cases linked to a specific site such as the food 
factory in Kirklees.

Pillar two testing data had improved but was still not sufficiently detailed or personalised and 
Directors of Public Health were lobbying in the strongest terms that it was essential for this more 
detailed data to be made available promptly and on an ongoing basis.

Colleagues in Environment Health had worked closely with Greater Manchester Police in the run up 
to the re-opening of bars and pubs the previous week and Salford had fared well, with no enforced 
closures and few reports of anti-social behaviour. Environmental Health and business support 
colleagues already had strong links with many business sectors across the city and were working 
closely with them in accordance with the Salford Outbreak Management Plan. Work was also 
underway to prepare for the potential return of college and university students in September and 
VCSE partners were working closely with communities of identity across the city.

Public Health colleagues were available to provide advice and guidance but the onus was on 
employers and establishments to ensure they were Covid secure, risk assess their staff and put 
measures in place to keep their staff safe and to be able to open and operate safely. 

GMc and CR agreed that it would be helpful for the dashboard tracker and the regular 
comprehensive Public Health briefing to be shared with commissioning committee members.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee thanked GMc for the comprehensive update on the current 
situation in relation to Covid-19.

ACTION: Gmc / CR to arrange for the dashboard tracker and the regular Public Health briefing to 
be shared with the commissioning committees.

6. Dates of Future Meetings

Wednesday 09 September 2020 at 14:00 
Wednesday 14 October 2020 at 14:00 
Wednesday 11 November 2020 at 14:00 
Wednesday 13 January 2021 at 14:00 
Wednesday 10 February 2021 at 14:00 
Wednesday 10 March 2021 at 14:00

The meeting closed at 15:33.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (ACC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 4

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

9th September 2020 

Report of: Interim Chief Finance Officer

Date of Paper: 26th August 2020

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

David Warhurst, Interim Chief Finance 
Officer

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Adults’ Commissioning Committee with:

 The 2020/21 financial outturn of the Integrated Fund for Adult services (Section 3) 
along with highlighting the risks to the financial position of the Adults Integrated 
Fund

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Ensuring public funding is spent appropriately.  
Achieving Value for Money, ensuring that 
funding is available to protect core services.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the adults’ integrated fund 
services. Through management of committed 
developments and holding providers to account 
for performance.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 8



                                      
Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 9



                                      
Adults Commissioning Committee (ACC)

Finance Report – 9th September 2020

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with an in-year 
update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of the Integrated 
Fund at month 4 2020/21.

Due to the current uncertainty in relation to the NHS financial regime, the position is 
currently not forecast forward to the end of the financial year. At the time of writing this 
report the CCG still hadn’t formally received its allocation for Month 5.

At month 4, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is currently showing an overspend 
of £0.1m. 

Section 2 highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund.  Most 
of the expenditure lines within are offsetting benefits to the pressure within committed 
developments. This is resultant from the NHS financial regime rather than service 
provision.  Key notes relating to the financial position are described below:

 Committed developments (£2.8m) - This is primarily made up of three transactions 
which offset the slippages on most other expenditure lines:

1. Block Contracts (£1.4m) – The nationally calculated block contracts resulted 
in underspends on Adults, offset by overspends on Children’s services. £1.4m 
of funding has therefore been transferred between the two funds to offset this 
change.

2. Deferment of Income (£0.9m) – Salford City Council (SCC) income is 
received equally throughout the year; whereas expenditure is not necessarily 
equal  i.e. move towards the Real Living Wage from October 2020. Due to the 
NHS finance regime it has been necessary to defer this income.

3. Savings target (£0.6m) – £2m saving required for the full financial year within 
the Fund. The YTD delivery is offset by slippages primarily within acute lines.

 Customer & Client Receipts (£0.5m) – A shortfall in income has been estimated as a 
result of the unfortunate number of deaths in care homes.

Section 3 & 4 highlights the key risks and updates that are related to the adults’ 
integrated fund. Along with the next steps in delivering a balanced adult integrated fund 
position for 2020/21.

ACC is asked to note the in-year position for the adult’s Integrated Fund for 2020/21 and 
the risks identified affecting the adults’ integrated fund presently and in the future.

Page 10



                                      

2.1 This latest finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with 
the in-year position of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund for the financial year 
(2020/21).  The appendices contain further detail, but it should be noted, within the 
there are some significant variances that relate almost entirely to the national 
calculation of block contracts.

2.2 This finance report is based on information up to the end of July 2020.  A detailed 
analysis of the position for each of the adults’ services within the Integrated Fund is 
shown in Appendices One to Six.

2.3 The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the position and agreed to the 
key messages.  

2.4 The in-year position shows expenditure as a slight under spend at £0.4m, however this 
is offset by the expected reduction in customer and client receipts by £0.5m in 2020/21, 
therefore the overall in year position is a slight over spend of £0.1m, as shown in Table 
1 below.  

Table 1: 2020/21 Financial Summary

2. 2020/21 In-Year Monitoring

Page 11



                                      
2.4.1 Acute/other underspends – The CCG is mandated under the current financial regime 

to maintain set budget values nationally. Consequently the nationally calculated block 
results in various large over and underspends across expenditure lines. However, 
these are offset by the pressure within committed developments.  

2.4.2 Committed Developments funding transfer - £1.4m of funding has been transferred 
between Adults’ and Children’s services. NHSE mandated that commissioners pay 
providers on a block contract basis, initially until the end of July, since extended to the 
end of September. These block prices were calculated predicated on expenditure to 
Month 9 in 2019/20, including uplift for growth. Therefore, these calculations are 
significantly different from those expected through locally commissioned contract 
values. As an example, one off 2019/20 critical care costs are in the nationally 
calculated contract, whereas these wouldn’t have been in local plans.

This resulted in an overspend within Children’s offset by an under spend within Adults, 
conveyed primarily in the Acute lines in table 1.  As these changes where not linked to 
service provision, it was necessary to transfer an appropriate level of funding.

It should be noted this transfer covers M1-4 and the expectation is this will also be 
required for Month’s 5 and 6, beyond this date, guidance and allocations is still 
unavailable.

2.4.4 Committed Developments deferment of income - £0.9m Salford City Council (SCC) 
income is received equally, but certain elements of expenditure only occur later in the 
financial year. In previous years, this could have been managed through the integrated 
fund forecast position. For 2020/21 the NHS has to complete a monthly top up process, 
which subject to audit, either funds deficits or takes back surpluses. Without deferring 
the income, the CCG would have effectively given part of the SCC allocation relating 
to future expenditure back to the national team. This is also likely to be required for 
Month’s 5 and 6.

2.4.5 Customer & Client Receipts - £0.5m – A shortfall in income has been estimated as 
a result of the unfortunate number of deaths in care homes.

3. Key Risks/Updates

3.1 The current NHS Finance regime is expected to continue until the end of September. 
The regime beyond this date is still unknown and therefore creates a financial risk, but 
also a risk in being able to fund and deliver required priorities. One notable change is 
that the NHS can invest funding in line with the aims of the Mental health Investment 
Standard.

3.2 Under the current regime all COVID 19 costs are currently funded nationally and have 
been managed outside of the integrated fund. From October, if there is a shortfall in 
funding for COVID 19 costs, this may become a cost pressure for the Fund.

3.3 There is no funding currently in place for either seasonality or if there is a potential 
second wave of COVID 19. 

3.4 Under the current regime new or enhanced care packages relating to ASC have been 
nationally funded by the NHS. From September, only the first 6 weeks of placements 

Page 12



                                      
will be funded. There are a number of outstanding assessments that need to be 
completed for all new packages as these haven’t been taking place during COVID 19. 
Prioritisation of assessments will need to be undertaken in order to meet the 
requirements of the schemes.

3.6 The current regime means that the Savings target for the first 4 months (in year) has 
been achieved. Whilst this is likely to be the case until the end of September, beyond 
this date, there is a risk that this may end up as a financial pressure of £1m (in year).

4. Next Steps

4.1 The Salford care organisation is currently finalising and communicating with providers 
in recognition of the move towards the Real Living Wage that was agreed pre COVID 
19. 

4.2 For the October committee, there will be a presentation on the new priorities, including 
the cost and risk. It is hoped at this stage the NHS will have its revised financial regime, 
if not, the report will clearly articulate key risks and assumptions. 

5. Recommendations

5.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) is asked to:

 Note the in-year position of the adults’ services within the Integrated Fund for 
2020/21

 Note the risks and next steps.

David Warhurst
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG
26th August 2020

Page 13



                                      
Appendix 1 – ICO Adult Social Care 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:

Due to the current financial regime all non-essential reporting has been suspended until further 
notice by NHSE this will have a significant impact on how we assess performance of contracts 
for reporting purposes.

This appendix shows all of the Adult Social Care services that are managed by the ICO 
(Salford Royal) and totals £98.0m for 2020/21.  The budget for 2020/21 was set at the 
recurrent budget value for 2019/20 plus an increase of £2.0m for cost pressures in relation to 
Residential and Learning Difficulties Placements.

These services have been placed on a block arrangement till at least the end of September 
2020 due to the national funding schemes in place to support the ASC market with respect of 
new packages of care since March 2020 as a result of COVID-19.

Page 14



Page 9 of 13

Appendix 2 – ICO Hospital Based Services (SRFT Acute) 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:

Due to the current financial regime all non-essential reporting has been suspended until further notice by NHSE this will have a significant impact 
on how we assess performance of contracts for reporting purposes.

This appendix shows the hospital based services that are within scope of the ICO and the Pooled budget, all relating to Salford Royal.  This 
table normally shows activity and spend by care setting (A&E department, unplanned admissions, planned admissions and outpatients).  

Under the current financial regime the monitoring of finance and activity for all hospital services were suspended in order to cope with the 
COVID-19 pandemic from the middle of March 2020. At this time all NHS contracts where placed on block arrangements until further notice and 
this has been the case till the end of July 2020, expectation is that this will continue through August and September 2020 with the remainder of 
the year unknown if contracts will remain on block or return to activity based contracts.

P
age 15



Page 10 of 13

Appendix 3 – ICO Community Services (SRFT Community) 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:

Due to the current financial regime all non-essential reporting has been suspended until further notice 
by NHSE this will have a significant impact on how we assess performance of contracts for reporting 
purposes.

This appendix shows all of the adult community health services spend within the ICO contract, broken 
down by service. 

The ICO community contract currently sits with SRFT and as a result this contract also falls under the 
same block arrangements as the acute contracts. As mentioned in appendix 2 above this contract will 
like remain on block until at least the end of September 2020.

Page 16



Page 11 of 13

Appendix 4 – Non-ICO Services 2020/21

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s
Drug & Alcohol Contracts £1,237 £1,237 £0
Sexual Health Contracts £831 £831 £0
Health Improvement Service £393 £393 £0
Healthy Living Centres £346 £346 £0
Other - Public Health £8 £8 £0

Total Public Health Contracts (Non-ICO) £2,815 £2,815 £0

Mental Health Service - NHS £12,088 £11,645 -£443
Six Degrees £515 £515 £0
St Ann's £472 £477 £5
Pendlebury House-Turning Point £297 £297 -£0
Community Services - NHS £357 £310 -£47
Prestwich Specialist Services £232 £232 £0
Specialist Weight  Management £174 £165 -£9
Age UK £186 £186 £0
Community Assets £167 £167 £0
START £163 £150 -£13
Carers' £126 £126 £0
Mental Health Services - Specialist Services £148 £139 -£9
Citizens Advice Bureau £96 £96 £0
Care Act £89 £88 -£1
Broomwell Healthwatch £69 £65 -£4
Practice Services Ltd £48 £55 £7
Stroke Association £49 £49 £0
Other £109 £226 £117

Total Block Contracts (Non-ICO) £15,385 £14,986 -£398

Acute Services - NHS £7,177 £7,077 -£100
Acute Services - Private £858 £524 -£334
Continuing Care £1,362 £1,043 -£319
Mental Health ISRs £1,132 £1,183 £51
DFG Capital Grant £1,028 £1,028 £0
Non Contracted Activity £1,001 £84 -£917
Funded Nursing Care £841 £648 -£193
Community Equipment Services £529 £589 £60
Any Qualifed Provider (AQP) £221 £28 -£193
Maryfield Court £129 £0 -£129
Mental Health Assessments £44 £44 £0
Patient Transport £12 £6 -£6

Total Activity Contracts (Non-ICO) £14,334 £12,254 -£2,080

Total - Non-ICO £32,534 £30,056 -£2,478

2020/21 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

Due to the current financial regime all non-essential reporting has been suspended until further notice 
by NHSE this will have a significant impact on how we assess performance of contracts for reporting 
purposes.

This appendix shows all of those commissioned services that are not part of the SRFT ICO contract 
that fall within the scope of the integrated fund services.

Page 17



Page 12 of 13

Appendix 5 – Aligned Services 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:

Due to the current financial regime all non-essential reporting has been suspended until further notice 
by NHSE this will have a significant impact on how we assess performance of contracts for reporting 
purposes.

This appendix shows all the commissioned services that are within the aligned element of the Adult’s 
Integrated Fund.  These services cannot be legally included in a Section 75 Agreement (pooled 
budget) but these are included in Salford’s Integrated Commissioning Partnership Agreement.  
Predominantly these relate to surgical hospital activity and emergency ambulance services. Any over 
or underspend in these areas are included within the financial risk share of the Integrated Fund.

During the current financial regime any large private provider was placed on a national contract paid 
for by NHSE to give capacity during COVID this included Oakland’s Hospital which is Salford CCG’s 
largest private provider and as a result creates a large underspend within the acute services private 
line. This has been used to offset the savings target within the Adults integrated fund for M1-4 only.

Page 18



Page 13 of 13

Appendix 6 – Committed Developments 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows funding (budget) that has not been transferred into contracts.  This funding has 
not been transferred across to providers as these budgets are based on estimated financial values 
and will only transfer into contracts when the actual financial values have been agreed.

All contingencies have been deferred into later months due to the current financial regime no new 
investment can be made into services at this time. The deferment includes the mayoral priorities that 
relates to the move towards real living wage.

The Adults’ Integrated Fund had a recurrent savings target of £2.0m for the year to achieve financial 
balance. £0.6m relates to this initial savings target with a further £1.4m being a result of NHS acute 
contract block arrangements funding has been transferred to the children’s element of the IF in order 
to fund acute pressures year to date. This value can be offset with the under spend on acute services.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 5

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information 

August / September 

Report of: Integrated Commissioning 

Date of paper: 09 September 2020

Subject: August / September 2020 Adult Mental Health Update

In case of query please contact: Clare Mayo (clare.mayo@nhs.net) / Judd 
Skelton (judd.skelton@salford.gov.uk) 

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper 
relates to)

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: 

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

mailto:clare.mayo@nhs.net
mailto:judd.skelton@salford.gov.uk


Purpose of paper: 

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

The paper provides an overview of the adult 
mental health performance, giving insight 
into the support available for Salford 
people, the performance of any identified 
support and any potential challenges / good 
practice. 

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

The risks outlined in the paper relate to 
performance and are mitigated with 
recovery plans as needed. 

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

An equality impact assessment is underway 
for the Living Well / Beyond service, in 
addition to ethnographic research which 
also incorporates lived experience of IAPT 
services.  

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

The risks outlined in the paper relate to 
performance and are mitigated with 
recovery plans as needed.

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

None

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

None 

Footnote:
Members of Adult Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once papers 
are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 22



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

 Ethnographic engagement is 
underway to continuously inform the 
Living Well work. Additional focus has 
been included on IAPT. 

This information will feed into 
service design and the wider 
EIA work to inform action 
plans as the service 
develops. 

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

 Clinician involvement is in place as 
part of the Living Well programme. 
Engagement linked to other areas of 
service provision has been increased 
throughout the COVID period.

Paper has been updated to 
include information to cover 
the covid period. 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?



P
age 23



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

 A specific EIA is being undertaken for 
the Living Well / Beyond service 
offers. For other services / contracts, 
equality and inequalities have been 
discussed as part of the regular 
performance monitoring discussions.

Legal advice sought
 N/A

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

 This paper has been presented to 
DMG and Lead Member. 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 24



  

Adult Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Update 
(August / September) 2020

1. Executive summary
1.1 Part A of the paper provides an update against the key work streams and targets for Adult 
Mental Health and Suicide Prevention. 

1.2 Part B of the report provides an update on the work of the Living Well Programme

2. PART A: ADULT MENTAL HEALTH UPDATE
The 5 Year Forward View for Mental Health (5YFV) and the NHS Long Term Plan sets out 
a range of targets for mental health. This paper provides an update on the current adult 
mental health performance against these targets locally, along with an update on the 
additional mental health work streams, aligning with ongoing work across Greater 
Manchester. 

2.1 Response to Covid 19

It is widely recognised that Covid-19 has had, and will have, a significant impact on the 
mental health and wellbeing of the population, particularly in light of social distancing and 
self-isolation, anxiety regarding current and impending economic uncertainty, anxiety 
around contracting the virus and people experiencing complex grief on an unprecedented 
scale. Many people who rely on formal support networks may have found that they were 
cancelled, face to face social interactions have been limited and informal support networks 
have been reduced due to illness and/or caring responsibilities. Some services (e.g. IAPT / 
Talking Therapies) moved to telephone and video conferencing, some changed their 
operational base and pathway (e.g. Mental Health Liaison) and some services were paused 
(e.g. Memory Assessment Team [MATS] & Living Well). 

Page 25



  

The key responses initiated throughout the initial response to COVID-19 were as follows:  

 IAPT has continued to deliver services via telephone and video conferencing
 The development of an improved digital offer via Silver Cloud, SHOUT and 

Living Life to the Full
 The development of a VCSE Collaborative (Beyond) to provide a Mental 

Health offer to people not known to Greater Manchester Mental Health 
Foundation Trust (GMMH)

 Development of a GMMH 24/7 helpline for people known to GMMH
 Change in the Mental Health Liaison pathway to divert people from A&E to a 

new location on the Meadowbrook site, resulting in around 20-30% of A+E 
attendance for mental health needs being successfully streamed to alternative 
locations

 Development of the GM Clinical Assessment Service (CAS) providing 24/7 
support to all members of the public in a Mental Health crisis

 Commissioning of a GM Bereavement Support Service (provided by Six 
Degrees)

 Development of the GM Resilience Hub offer for key staff groups in GM 
including care homes staff. 

Oversight of the delivery and impact on services was monitored via a daily sitrep report 
provided by GMMH Trust and weekly updates with other providers. 

Following a review of priority areas in light of COVID-19, three key areas have been 
identified: 

 Mental Health Crisis and Urgent Care  
 IAPT
 Living Well (also identified as one of the five Health and Care system 

priorities)

Additional areas for consideration in relation to further planning following the COVID-19 
respond are in relation to: 

 Memory Assessment Teams (MATs) and dementia diagnosis rate recovery
 Anticipated demand for mental health support 
 New presentations – people experiencing mental health needs for the first 

time 

Page 26



  

 Existing service users who may not have accessed support 
 Increased range of diagnosis – e.g. Prolonged Complex Bereavement 

Disorder, Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, Obsessive Compulsive Disorder – 
ensure that we have the expertise and capacity in our system to respond 

 Mental Health needs of BAME communities. 

The following summary provides an overview of the performance and developments in 
mental health, including an update on the service delivery / considerations following 
COVID-19. 

2.2 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

“The Mental Health Five Year Forward View Implementation Plan and NHS Long Term Plan 
set out the ambition to increase access to integrated evidence-based psychological 
therapies, with a target of 25% prevalence for 2020/2021. In addition to prevalence targets, 
there are IAPT targets in place for referral to treatment (RTT) in 6 and 18 weeks and 
recovery targets for improvements in anxiety and depression throughout treatment. 
Published data is obtained nationally and is usually 3 months behind. Local data collected 
from the services provides a more up to date picture. 

2.2.1 Mental Health: Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT):  The latest 
published data is March 2020 and local data for July 2020.  

 Prevalence- Published data for May shows that performance is currently at 1.5%. 
July local data is reported at 2%, which, whilst not meeting the new increased year 
end target of 25%, is showing an improving position against the May and June 
performance. The dip in May is most likely due to reduced referrals and initial 
appointment challenges as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 Recovery- May published reports show that performance was 43.1% which is 
below the recovery target. Local July data reports that recovery is at 52.8% which 
exceeds the recovery target and is a continued improving position from June. 

Page 27



  

 6 weeks – Published data for May performance is 50.9% which is below target. 
Local data shows performance for July at 64.5%, which, whilst not reaching target, 
continues the improving trajectory from May and June. Six Degrees are showing a 
improving position in ‘on entry’ data, suggesting that there are currently no waits 
over 6 weeks on entry; however this is not yet reflected in local on exit data. Whilst 
recovery against the improvement trajectory is taking slightly longer than 
anticipated, it is likely that the improving on entry data will be reflected in 
November data and will be showing in published data by early 2021. There are no 
waits between appointments once someone has undergone their initial 
appointment. People are seen fortnightly unless they request otherwise

 18 weeks - Published performance is showing the May position just below target 
at 94.7% with local data for July showing performance as exceeding target at 
95.3%.

Both Six Degrees and GMMH have been delivering therapy via telephone and / or video 
conferencing throughout the pandemic. Evaluation of the acceptability and effectiveness of 
video conferencing within the GMMH service is being undertaken. Online group delivery is 
also taking place in Six Degrees.  
Six Degrees has continued to see the benefit of counselling staff, with practitioners 
targeting the GP surgeries with the longest waiters. The value of this staff group is widely 
recognised in the service and an evaluation is underway to demonstrate the impact of this 
workforce and will contribute to the discussions at GM and nationally relating to 
competencies of the IAPT workforce. Counsellors are being retained until November to 
support with the recovery against the trajectory. 
People not wanting / able to take up IAPT via video / telephone with Six Degrees are being 
contacted regularly and face to face clinics are being explored in a limited capacity in line 
with the reopening of Gateways. GMMH have informed people who have not wanted / been 
able to uptake IAPT via video / telephone that they will be contacted when face to face 
clinics are on offer.  
Overall referral numbers are showing an increasing picture, demonstrating that the volume 
of referrals is progressing back towards pre-COVID-19 rates. Referrals for July have 
returned to pre-COVID levels. 

Page 28



  

Average 
Referrals 

pre 
Covid-19

Jan 
2020

Feb 
2020

March 
2020

April 
2020

May 
2020

June 
2020

July 
2020

Six 
Degrees 

750 - 
1050

852 790 654 274 383 628 791Referrals 
in

GMMH 430 - 520 425 433 438 365 413 489 557

GMMH treatment starts dropped to a low of 170 in May, with treatment starts in July rising 
to 228 against 265 commissioned treatment starts. 
Silver Cloud (online therapeutic packages supported by IAPT workers) are now integrated 
into Six Degrees data flow and is being operationalised as part of the service in two GP 
surgeries as a pilot approach to ensure that processes are embedded. Planning is ongoing 
for wider roll out. Public Silver Cloud packages are available without IAPT support. 
GMMH has continued to see improvements in the monthly reporting. Silver Cloud is being 
explored for Step 3 to support online offers. 

2.2.1.1 IAPT Development Plans (Long Term Conditions) 
As part of our local efforts to increase the number of people accessing psychological 
therapies for anxiety/depression (and to achieve 25% access target by 2021) we are 
focusing on people who have co-existing long-term physical health conditions (LTCs) and 
also those experiencing perinatal mental health issues. The aim of the LTC work is to 
develop pathways between IAPT and LTC with co-located practitioners.

To be considered an LTC pathway in IAPT, all of the following criteria must be met: 
a) integrated into physical health pathways; 
b) co-located with physical health colleagues; 
c) with treatment delivered by IAPT staff who have attended the IAPT-
LTC/MUS top-up training. 

Six Degrees has a CQUIN in place to develop the work to achieve the above outcomes. 
Due to the COVID situation, this has been delayed slightly; however as the services return 
to the new normal, this work will be restarted. 

Page 29



  

2.3 Perinatal Mental Health

There are three elements to Perinatal Mental Health requirements in the 5 Year Forward 
View and NHS Long Term Plan: 

 Specialist community psychiatric input required to meet the needs of people who 
are the most acutely unwell. This work stream is commissioned and provided at a 
GM level with GMMH being commissioned to provide this service across GM 
since they are also the provider of the existing GM Mother and Baby unit. The 
service is live and works with GPs and local services to ensure appropriate 
referrals. 

 The second work stream focuses on the provision of psychological therapies for 
people with perinatal mental health difficulties. As part of the phase 2 business 
case for IAPT, two perinatal high intensity. These posts sit in GMMH. Discussions 
are underway as to how this resource will link with a potential wider Parent Infant 
Mental Health (PIMH) team. The perinatal IAPT self-assessment checklist is also 
being undertaken on a quarterly basis to ensure developments relating to the 
perinatal offer are addressed. 

 The third work stream focuses on addressing attachment and bonding issues via 
early intervention approaches. A PIMH team framework is provided from GM and 
there is a current business case being explored to support a local team. This 
work is sitting with children’s commissioning as the lead.  A business case has 
been developed for this element of provision.

2.4 Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP)

NHS England states “The access and waiting time standard requires that more than 60% of 
people experiencing first episode psychosis will be treated with a NICE recommended 
package of care within two weeks of referral”. 

In order to achieve the standard, both the maximum waiting time from referral to treatment 
and access to NICE recommended care must be met. Success is measured as ‘more than 
60% of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis are treated with a NICE 
recommended care package within two weeks of referral’. 

Salford’s performance for April 2020 is 83.0% which meets the target of 60%. A business 
case (total £269,909) was approved to invest £148,360 recurrently in the delivery of NICE 
concordant interventions and an additional non recurrent investment of £121,549 to support 
a non-recurrent test of change relating to the assessment function in the service. The 

Page 30



  

review of the assessment function investment is due December 2020, however initial 
anecdotal evidence seems positive on the whole. 

2.5 Adult Mental Health Crisis and Urgent Care Services

The 5YFV outlines that: ‘at least 50% of acute hospitals should meet the core 24 service 
standard for mental health liaison as a minimum. People presenting with a mental health 
need in A&E departments and on physical health wards will have access to swift an 
compassionate assessment of their mental health needs and high quality NICE 
recommended care, 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. There will be a reduction in 
inappropriate inpatient admissions, shorter length of stay, reduction in delayed transfers of 
care and reduced readmissions’

Salford CCG has invested considerably in development of its local Mental Health Liaison 
Service - £1.2m in 2013. Salford has secured some of the GM transformation funds (circa 
£630K in wave 1) to develop this further to be fully CORE24 compliant and meet all targets. 

85.5% of referrals in April 2020 and 83.2% of referrals in May were seen within one hour 
against a target of 75%. Performance for referrals from A&E seen within two hours was 
90.5% in April 2020 and 95.5% in May against a target of 95%. 

The implementation of the two agreed 24/7 crisis beds in Hollybank have been paused due 
to infection control risks of COVID-19. As an alternative approach, work is underway to 
explore alternatives to A&E and step down services from A&E/inpatients to improve the 
crisis pathway and whether there are opportunities across the GMMH footprint (Bolton, 
Salford, Trafford and Manchester)

Urgent care redesign is taking on the learning from having mental health and A&E 
presentation diverted to an alternative location. It is estimated that approx 25% of A&E 
attendance is possible to be diverted and there are ongoing discussions to identify suitable 
locations for this to take place. 

GMMH have an established 24/7 helpline in place and the GM Clinical Assessment Service 
(CAS) is also operational which will divert people contacting via 111 to appropriate local 
services. 

Page 31



  

2.6 Mental Health Out of Area Placements (OAPs)

The 5YFV ambition is to significantly reduce, and if possible eradicate admissions to out of 
area beds for acute mental health care, with a target date of 20/21.

GMMH sub-contract for a number of acute beds with Priory (main site being Cheadle Royal 
Hospital). These are used when acute admission is necessary for a Manchester, Salford, 
Bolton or Trafford patient and there is no acute bed available within the GMMH localities. 

When extreme bed crisis occurs, and there are no GMMH beds and no local Priory beds, 
then people still need to be placed further out of area. This is far from ideal, but essential for 
safety and wellbeing that the individual accesses a bed in a timely manner when acutely ill. 
Much progress has been made over the last couple of years, and it is much rarer these 
days to see a Salford person placed outside of the GM area for acute inpatient care; though 
it can still happen on occasions. 

The week to week position regarding out of area acute cases is extremely variable and it is 
not easy to predict any trends. The CCG monitors this very closely, with commissioners 
seeing an update report from GMMH on out of area bed use twice weekly, and this enables 
approval of any required funding extensions and allows challenges to be made when 
appropriate. As at w/c 27th July 2020 there were 2 Salford persons in this kind of out-of-area 
acute bed – one was in the sub-contracted Priory bed, so still within GM, and the other was 
in an Independent Sector bed outside of GM, but with this deemed as being a short crisis 
admission where the person is likely to be discharged during the course of the week.

2.6.1   Acute Out of Area Placements 

Salford has seen an increased spend in short term acute OAPs this financial year. Current 
acute out of area placements (at 31st July 2020) include 2 non reportable and 1 reportable 
OAPs. 

Total number of 
admissions (YTD)

Total number of bed 
nights (YTD) Total for Q1 

1 6 £3,459.50

Acute OAPs (Short Stay Admission)

 

Page 32



  

Regular reports from the GMMH Salford Bed Manager has illustrated that over the past 6-8 
months, acute placements are not always being admitted to a Cheadle (Priory) bed. 
Admissions have been displaced out of area (recent cases were placed in Chelmsford, 
Essex and Darlington). Commissioners have communicated clearly to GMMH that 
increased reporting is required; specifically an improved narrative is needed to provide 
rationale for people being placed in more distant locations and why local contracted Priory 
beds are not being used. The use of non-contracted beds incurs a higher daily bed rate, 
accounting for the increase in spend this financial year.  Commissioners are also keen to 
explore further with GMMH the potential usage of any ‘mothballed’ wards which might offer 
a temporary but more local and cost effective offer. 

2.6.2 Rehab Out of Area Placements 

Current rehab OAPs stand at 16 people (data received 31.7.20). 

Total number of active 
patients Total forecast spend for 2020/21*

18 £956,698

*Please note that due to current guidance from NHSE, this forecast is only up until 
July 2020

Following discussions with GMMH re rehab placements, a piece of work is being 
undertaken to explore the potential for a more joined up approach to rehab placements 
across the GMMH footprint. This will need to be carried out on a case by case basis but will 
create additional flexibility to ensure that people are able to access the right rehab support 
to meet their needs. 

2.6.3 Jointly Funded Care Home Placements

Jointly funded care home placements that are funded by the CCG and recharged 
proportionately to Salford City Council. The funding split has been set at 50% for both the 
City Council and CCG.

Plans are in place to pass the responsibility for these placements to the ICO. Appropriate 
costs, once agreed, will be reflected in the pooled budget and future contract value to 
account for this; effectively eliminating the current recharge transaction. 

Page 33



  

Quarter 1 (20/21) Activity and High Level Finances:

Service Type Report 
Period

Number 
of Active 
Placeme

nts in 
Quarter

Number 
of new 

Placeme
nts in 

Quarter

Number 
of ended 
Placeme

nts in 
Quarter

Cumulati
ve 

Actuals 
Charged 
to CCG 
to date* 

(£)

Cumulati
ve 

Annual 
Forecast 

(£)

C
ar

e 
H

om
es

Q1 3 0 0 £31,845.9
4 £42,222**

*For jointly funded care homes, this is the total invoice cost, minus the recharge to 
Salford City Council to date, reported cumulatively. **Please note that due to the 
current guidance from NHSE, this forecast is only up until July 2020. 

2.7 Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC)

The GM working group has been supporting a shared understanding of DTOC and how this 
should be reported across all mental health trusts in GM. Following this, a shared definition 
has been implemented and this has led to an increased reporting of DTOCs in GMMH since 
January 2019; however this has supported a more accurate picture of DTOCs in the 
system. 

A CCG Mental Health Commissioner has weekly liaison with GMMH senior managers 
regarding DTOCs. This is supported by a weekly written update report from GMMH which is 
scrutinised by the CCG ahead of any discussions. The commissioner regularly seeks 
clarification on issues, makes suggestions in regard to such things as placement sourcing 
for those who need continued 24/7 care, and makes challenges where appropriate. The 
picture around DTOCs is also very variable and ever-changing. As at July 31st 2020 the 
following DTOC cases existed:

General Adult Acute DTOCs  

There are 8 General Adult Acute DTOCs in total:

-2 await Salford locked rehab beds (on waiting list)

Page 34



  

-1 awaits a female-only rehab service bed (on waiting list)

-3 await supported accommodation placements

-1 awaits a local residential rehab bed

-1 is close to discharge back home (has been awaiting housing property repairs 
which caused some delay to discharge)

Adult Rehab DTOCs

There is one case of Adult Rehab DTOC. A placement is identified and has capacity to 
accept the person; however the service user is currently resisting the transfer.

Later Life Inpatients DTOCs

There is one case of Later Life DTOC. The person is awaiting discharge to a care home in 
early August.

2.8 Suicide Prevention Strategy

Reduction of deaths by suicide by a target of 10% was set as a national target in the 5YFV. 
A Greater Manchester Suicide Prevention Executive is in place which is overseeing the 
implementation of the GM Suicide Prevention Strategy and action plan.  Salford is well 
connected into this with the Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning being the lead 
GM MH Commissioner in this area. 

The current action plan for the Salford Suicide Prevention Partnership is currently being 
reviewed. This will result in a more streamlined approach to the actions for 2020/21 due to 
the priority areas identified throughout the response to the pandemic. Likely priorities 
include: 

 Suicide Prevention and economic adversity 
 Reduction of access to means 
 Support to frontline staff 

Page 35



  

These priority areas will be in line with those of the GM Suicide Prevention Partnership. In 
addition, learning from the Lived Experience Project (ethnographic research providing 
insight into the strengths and challenges experienced by people with lived experience). 

Due to COVID, the usual Remembrance Vigil for people bereaved by suicide will not take 
place in the standard format. Instead, the use of socially distanced car parking and a 
cinema style outdoor screen is being explored as a revised vigil formal, whilst still bringing 
people together to remember their loved ones. 

Additional work is being undertaken at a GM level to support training of Barbers in suicide 
prevention (organised by the Torbay Lions Barbers). 

The ‘Speak Their Name’ remembrance quilt, developed by 80 people with personal 
experience of bereavement by suicide will be launched at Manchester Art Gallery on World 
Suicide Prevention Day, following which it will be displayed across the GM localities.  

The GM bereavement offer is now covering both bereavement from suicide and wider 
bereavement. 

GM discussions in relation to suicide prevention and Highways England are planned for 
mid-August and this is mirrored with local conversations with Highways, Landscaping and 
Environment. 

2.8 Employment Support

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (5YFV) identifies the disparity between 
those people with mental health issues and the general population in relation to achieving 
employment.  43 % of all people with mental health problems (predominantly common 
mental health problems) are in employment compared to 74% of the general population and 
65% of people with other health conditions. The employment rate for people in secondary 
care mental health services is even lower at 6.7% nationally. 

Employment support is a key focus of the Living Well offer, with resource in the team skilled 
in employment and mental health. This will be evaluated as part of the wider Living Well 
offer. 

2.9 VCSE Mental Health Grants Funding 

Transformation Funding from Greater Manchester has been allocated to the VCSE sector to 
support a grants programme, administered by Salford CVS. 

Page 36



  

The final round of VCSE grants funding has been announced via Salford CVS. The priority 
areas for these grants are as follows: 

 Loss (including bereavement, loss of role / identity / job loss etc) 
 Parents and Families (working with adults to prevent the cycle of poor mental 

health and trauma). 
 Substance Misuse 

These grant areas attract up to £70k per area for delivery over an 18 month period to align 
with the Living Well programme. Panels for applications to the larger grants will take place 
in early September with a view to awarding soon after. 

A smaller grants programme (awards up to £10k) will be announced later in the year and 
will focus on suicide prevention). 

2.10 Adult Community Eating Disorders 

A review of the adult ED service has been undertaken. This has identified a number of 
challenges including: 

 Changes to NICE Guidance 
 Impact of CYP referral to treatment timescales 
 Medical input, particularly to supporting those people with a severe and enduring 

ED
 Family Therapy availability 
 Lack of commissioned capacity. 

These challenges have resulted in a service with significant waits in parts of the pathway 
and a lack of parity between CYP and adult eating disorder services. The service is held in 
high regard with positive feedback from people accessing support. A business case was 
approved in February/ March 2020 which outlined the approach to align adult eating 
disorder referral to treatment times to those offered by CYP (urgent in one week or less, 
standard in 4 weeks or less), implement an early intervention pathway for people with first 
episode eating disorders, the delivery of family therapy (in line with CYP offers), implement 
a severe and enduring eating disorder pathway and provide medical input to manage 

Page 37



  

bloods and subsequent results). This resulted in investment of approx £270k. In addition, 
further investments were made to address the current waiting list. 

Recruitment is currently underway to support the implementation of this business case. 

2.11 Care Programme Approach (CPA)

The table below highlights performance for the first 2 months of the financial year (note: the 
contractual obligation is to achieve 95% in the quarter) with previous quarter’s information 
presented for comparison.

This highlights consistently good performance over the past 9 months; with all follow ups 
being completed since the start of the current calendar year.

Indicator Description Target
Q3

19/20
Q4

19/20
M1 

20/21
M2 

20/21 Traj.

Care Programme Approach (CPA):
% of service users under adult mental 
illness specialties on CPA followed up 
within 7 days of discharge from 
psychiatric in-patient care

95% 98.5
% 100% 100% 100% ↔

3. Salford CCG Contracts
3.1 Operational Standards
2 Operational Standards are included in the Bolton-led GMMH contract, both of which have 
been achieved in months one and two of the current financial year.

3.2 National Quality Requirements
4 National Quality Requirements are included in the Bolton-led GMMH contract. In month 2, 
the ‘IAPT 18 week RTT’ target has performed below standard; however it is on track to 

Page 38



  

meet the quarterly contractual target. Further information relating to this standard can be 
found in section 2.1.

3.3 Local Quality Requirements
23 Local Quality Requirements are included in the Bolton-led GMMH contract. In month 
two, 5 measures either performed below standard or information was not included in the 
report. Further detail on these measures are provided in appendix A. 

3.4 Other Third and Independent Sector Mental Health Services 

The following contracts have reported exceptions in their performance: 

 Six Degrees – 6 week waiting times (IAPT)
 Self Help Services 

o  % of patients moving to recovery 
o 6 week waiting times (IAPT)

The detail of this exception reporting is available in appendix A

4. PART B: LIVING WELL SALFORD PROGRAMME UPDATE
B1.1 Living Well

The Living Well UK Programme is a national three year programme to help us think 
differently about mental health support. It will help Salford to focus on people’s skills, 
aspirations and experiences to build a different way of offering support and help. Over the 
last eight years, Lambeth has been changing their mental health support to help everyone 
who experiences mental health difficulties to work towards recovery, stay well, make their 
own choices and take part in everyday life. Salford, Luton, Edinburgh and Tameside and 
Glossop have all been picked to learn from this work as part of a programme funded by the 
National Lottery Community Fund. Salford will be working with the Innovation Unit, a not for 
profit social enterprise. The Innovation Unit will help all of the sites in the Living Well UK 
programme to develop their own local systems to meet the needs of local people.  We are 
calling this work Living Well Salford. 

Page 39



  

Throughout the COVID-19 acute response, the decision was made to pause the Living Well 
work and staff were redeployed to support frontline requirements on the wards. In June 
2020, this work was restarted. The Living Well team is now operating a pilot approach in 
Broughton, supporting referrals that would otherwise have not met the criteria for 
Community Mental Health Teams (CMHT). Over the next few months, the number of people 
supported by this team will grow, with the anticipation that all Broughton referrals not 
meeting CMHT criteria but requiring more support than primary care can offer, will be 
supported by Living Well. 

Interviews for 2 x Recovery workers took place in July, resulting in two successful 
appointments. Recruitment for a social worker is underway. 

As part of the NHS Long Term Plan, localities are being asked to realign community mental 
health services with primary care networks (PCNs), creating ‘new and integrated models of 
primary and community mental health care’ by 2023/24. NHS England has published a 
Community Mental Health Framework, giving further detail on what these models of care 
might look like, with a range of models currently being tested.  To support these integrated 
models, Mental Health Practitioner (MHP) roles are included in the GP Contract Additional 
Roles Reimbursement Scheme from April 2021.

In Salford the remodelling of primary and community mental health care is being 
undertaken within the Living Well work. Conversations are therefore underway regarding 
the potential of furthering the reach of the Living Well work across Salford by exploring 
options around aligning MHPs in the PCNs within the Living Well model which would result 
in greater resilience and a more multi-disciplinary offer and ensure Salford has a cohesive 
and integrated front door to mental health in the future.  

B1.2 Beyond

Throughout the COVID-19 response, the Beyond service offer (a collaboration between 
Mind in Salford, Start and Six Degrees) was established to meet the citywide mental health 
needs of people not known to GMMH as one of the offers under the Spirit of Salford 
response. 

Six Degrees staff have been supporting with the triage of referrals to the new Beyond 
service (supporting referrals from the Spirit of Salford line for people not known to GMMH). 
In addition to triage, Six Degrees has supported the onward referral to CMHT where 
needed and the liaison between primary and secondary mental health care. 

Page 40



  

It is envisaged that the Beyond service offer may be part of the same model as the Living 
Well programme in the future.  

5. Recommendations
5.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of the report. 

Name (Author): Clare Mayo 

Job title: Integrated Commissioning Manager

Page 41



  

Appendix A

Section 3: Salford CCG Contracts – Detailed Information 

The table below outlines the contract values for 2020/21. 

Provider / Service

Lead (L) 
or 

Assoc. 
(A)

Annual Contract 
Values (£000)

Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS FT (inc. 
Bolton and Manchester-led contracts)

A 36,410

Six Degrees L 1,546
Turning Point L 890
START L 503
Self Help Services L 68
North West Boroughs Partnership A 134
Pennine Care FT (inc. Military Veterans) A 106
Lesbian and Gay Foundation A 21
Jointly Funded Care Home Placements (CCG-led)* N/A 104
IFR Independent Hospital Long Stay Placements* N/A 2,724
IFR Independent Hospital Short Stay Placements* N/A 493
Mental Health Out of Area Outpatient Charges and 
NCA*

N/A 20

Grand Totals 43,019

Notes:
All figures are inclusive of CQUIN where a scheme is in place

L = Salford CCG is the lead commissioner; A = Salford CCG is an associate

These values relate to the opening balance plus/minus any variation adjustments. 

Page 42



  

3.2 Greater Manchester Mental Health (Bolton-Led Multi-Lateral) Performance - £36,410k

Operational Standards
2 Operational Standards are included in the Bolton-led GMMH contract, both of 
which have been achieved in months one and two of the current financial year.

National Quality Requirements
4 National Quality Requirements are included in the Bolton-led GMMH contract. In 
month 2, the ‘IAPT 18 week RTT’ target has performed below standard; however it is 
on track to meet the quarterly contractual target. Further information relating to this 
standard can be found in section 2.1.

Local Quality Requirements
23 Local Quality Requirements are included in the Bolton-led GMMH contract. In 
month two, 5 measures either performed below standard or information was not 
included in the report. Specific updates relating to the underperforming areas in 
month two are as follows:

(Please note; 1 measure is contractually obliged to achieve the target on a 
quarterly basis; another on a 6 monthly basis; but are presented here for 
information)

Indicator
:

MH Liaison Service (RAID) - % of patients 
discharged from A&E within 4 hours

Target:
95% 
Monthly

Achieved
:
94.9% in 
M2

Position:

Despite very marginal underperformance in month 2, there has been 
improvement compared with month 1 (92.5%) despite 25% more referrals. 
Provider narrative suggests higher presenting acuity than would usually be 
expected which has also had an impact on performance in recent months.

Recommendation: Very marginal underperformance in month 2 and an 
improvement on the previous month. Suggest no further action and continue 
to monitor.

Page 43



  

Indicator
:

Percentage of patients readmitted within 30 days 
of formal discharge from the ward. ONE MONTH 
IN ARREARS

Target:

≤10.7% 
Quarterly

Achieved:

14.9% in 
M1

Position:

Underperformance in month 1 relates to 10 readmissions. Narrative provides 
specifics of 6 patients, all of whom were reviewed and provided with clear 
post discharge support plans. Unfortunately due to social stressors and (in 2 
cases) use of illicit substances there was deterioration in their mental state 
and it was felt they needed readmission to maintain safety. Gatekeeping 
completed and alternatives were explored but not felt to be appropriate in 
these cases. 

Recommendation: Suggest further information relating to the 4 individuals 
not included in this narrative. This should be provided in the quarterly 
readmission investigation report. 

Indicator
:

GPs will receive discharge notifications within 
24 (working) hours of discharge from MH 
inpatient and day case services.

Target:

90% 6 
monthly

Achieved:

88.4% in 
M2

Position:

Whilst underperformance is marginal in month, there has been a relatively 
large reduction in performance compared to month 1 (96.4%) despite fewer 
discharges. The provider report offers no narrative.

Recommendation: further information required to understand drop in 
performance

Page 44



  

Indicator
:

Safe Staffing - Percentage sickness/ absence 
rate as a total of the workforce.

Target:
5.6% 
Quarterl
y

Achieved
:
8.78% in 
M2

Position:

Significantly higher sickness levels than usual. Whilst not explicit in the report 
narrative, this is highly likely to be linked to COVID. Narrative does suggest 
that the trust is putting plans in place to deal with specific hotspots linked to 
sickness.

Recommendation: no further action at this stage - this should improve in line 
with staff sickness levels across the city.

Indicator
:

% of medicines omissions in the NHS Mental 
Health Thermometer submission excluding 
refusals or if deemed clinically inappropriate.

Target:
<=5% 
monthly

Achieved
:
Nothing 
reported 
in months 
1 and 2

Position:
Safety Thermometer data collection has been suspended until further notice. 
Once the reinstated reporting will resume.

Recommendation: no further action required.

3.3. Other Third and Independent Sector MH Services 

3.3.1 Six Degrees - £1,546k

Six Degrees deliver step 2 IAPT in Salford and their key deliverables are therefore 
linked to the national IAPT standards. A small number of additional, outcome-
focused measures have been included in the 2020/21 contract; however, no 
information has been submitted in relation to these to date. 

Six Degrees’ specific performance against the national standards for Q1 is as 
follows, with previous 19/20 Q4 performance included for comparison:

Page 45



  

Indicator Target M1 M2 M3 Q1 
(2021)

Q4 
(1920)

Traj
.

Recovery Rate 50% 51.4% 57.3% 60.2% 56.3% 53.9% ↑

Waiting Times - 6 
weeks 75% 30.5% 23.8% 38.2% 30.8% 40.8% ↓

Waiting Times - 18 
weeks 95% 99.2% 97.0% 97.3% 97.8% 99.7% ↔

*Please note reported figures are local figures only. Published data is aggregated 
across the system.

Exceptions are detailed below:

Indicator
: IAPT – Waiting Times: 6 Weeks

Target:
75% 
Quarterl
y

Achieved
:
40.8%% 
in Q1

Position:

Six Degrees have been experiencing unprecedented Psychological Wellbeing 
Practitioner (PWP) workforce issues, which reflect national challenges in this 
area. Previous performance has been consistently on target. Whilst not yet 
meeting target in published data, Six Degrees are showing an improving 
picture, with ‘on entry’ data suggesting that waiting times are currently around 
4 weeks. There are no secondary waits between first and second or second 
and third appointments. 

There are approx. 18 people who have not wanted / been able to take up 
IAPT via video / telephone. These people are being contacted regularly and 
face to face clinics are being explored in a limited capacity in line with the 
reopening of Gateways.

An improvement trajectory has been identified to illustrate anticipated 
improvement in performance. It is anticipated that the on entry data will start 
to show in local data by November, with it being reflected in published data in 
early 2021.  

Page 46



  

3.3.2 Turning Point - £890k

New reporting requirements were introduced into the Turning Point contract in 
2020/21, including 4 new contractual performance measures. In Q1, there was one 
exception relating to the proportion of service users who have completed an 
experience questionnaire. This is currently being collated and will be presented in the 
Q2 report.

In addition to the ‘routine’ performance information, finance data linked to the current 
pilot being undertaken at Pendlebury House has been made available. This pilot is 
designed to test the efficacy of using the site to offer services to both males and 
females (previously the service was male only) and the potential to support some 
shorter term rehab placements to support people’s recovery journey and facilitate the 
timely discharge of people who may otherwise be delayed transfers of care (DTOCs). 
Highlights of this include:

 Estimated £36k cost avoidance since March, relating to two DTOCs when 
compared to the average cost of an alternative out of area provider;

 Estimated £33k cost avoidance since January, of supporting 2 female service 
users when compared to the average cost of an alternative out of area 
provider. 

3.3.3 Start - £503k

Traditionally; Start submits performance reports which offer a range of information 
designed to highlight the positive impact of their provision, including outcomes linked 
to their own wellbeing outcomes measures (Start’s Wellbeing Wheel) and the 
nationally recognised WEMWEBS outcomes tool.

3 contractual performance measures were introduced in 2017/18 and have been 
consistently achieved since then. However, the impact of COVID has meant that the 
usual forms of support offered have not been feasible recently, resulting in a change 
to the services offered and the assurance reporting submitted during this period.

Start has implemented a range of alternative support offers since the emergence of 
COVID; focusing mostly on digital or telephone support. The information below 
highlights the number of alternative offers made during Q1 of the current financial 
year:

 368 telephone calls have been made to service users;
 347 text communications have also been made;
 38 one to one training sessions have been delivered over Zoom;
 22 virtual classes are also offered via Zoom;

Page 47



  

 131 people have signed up to Start’s wellbeing hub. This offers advice and 
links to a range of support services in the community;

 12 videos have been created and uploaded to YouTube

3.3.4 Self Help Services - £68k

Similarly to Six Degrees, Self Help Services deliver step 2 IAPT services in Salford. 
Due to the type of intervention offered by this provider (predominantly computer-
based e-Therapy), additional generic indicators included in some of the other 3rd 
sector contracts have been deemed as inappropriate.

Self Help Services’ specific performance against the national standards for Q1 is as 
follows, with previous 19/20 Q4 performance included for comparison:

Indicator Target M1 M2 M3 Q1 
(2021)

Q4 
(1920)

Traj
.

Recovery Rate 50% 33.3% 50.0% 36.4% 39.9% 11.1% ↑

Waiting Times - 6 
weeks 75% 20.0% 50.0% 45.5% 38.5% 100% ↓

Waiting Times - 18 
weeks 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% ↔

*Please note reported figures are local figures only. Published data is aggregated 
across the system.
Exceptions are detailed below:

Indicator
: IAPT – % of patients who are moving to recovery

Target:
50% 
Quarterl
y

Achieved
:
39.9% in 
Q1

Position:

Performance in relation to recovery in the past 2 quarters has been 
significantly lower than usual. At the time of writing specific reasons for this 
are unknown and further information will be requested from the provider. 

It should be noted that recovery performance is impacted by the very low 
number of people completing treatment within a given reporting period, 

Page 48



  

Indicator
: IAPT – % of patients who are moving to recovery

Target:
50% 
Quarterl
y

Achieved
:
39.9% in 
Q1

meaning that individual breaches can have a significant impact.

Recommendation: further information required to understand recent 
performance issues.

Indicator
: IAPT – Waiting Times: 6 Weeks

Target:
75% 
Quarterl
y

Achieved
:
38.5% in 
Q1

Position:

Similarly to above; performance against the 6 week RTT target is significantly 
lower than usual. Again, due to low numbers accessing this service, any 
breach can have a significant impact on performance. However, the RTT 
target is more dependent on operational management than the recovery 
target (which is driven by each individual’s subjective scoring against the 
PHQ9 and GAD7 scorecards). As such, further information will be requested 
from the provider to understand the reasons for this.

Recommendation: further information required to understand recent 
performance issues.

3.4 Mental Health FT / Trust Contracts Where Salford CCG is an Associate

Routine information provided for all MH contracts to which Salford is an associate is 
variable. In some cases, we receive Salford-specific activity with no accompanying 
performance/quality info; whilst in other cases, we receive contract/trust level 
performance/quality information at a macro level, making assurance regarding 
Salford patients/service users difficult to unpick.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Adults Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 6

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information  

9th September 2020 

Report of: Dr Tom Regan – Clinical Director of Commissioning

Tori Quinn – Acting Head of Service Improvement (ICS)

Date of paper: 26th August 2020

Subject: Integrated Care / Community Health Care Update 

In case of query please contact: Tori Quinn

tori.quinn@nhs.net

0161 983 0543

Strategic priorities 

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: 

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6

mailto:tori.quinn@nhs.net


Purpose of paper: 

The purpose of this paper is to provide Commissioning Committee with 
an update on adult’s integrated care and community health services, the 
work programme (s) of the Integrated Community Based Care 
Commissioning Group (ICBCCG) and the Adult’s Advisory Board (AAB) 
and End of Life Services. This paper covers the period March 2020 to 
August 2020.

Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of this 
report and comment as appropriate.

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

Paper provided for information only

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

N/A – any risks pertaining to the individual 
services/projects that are reported in this 
paper, will be managed within the usual risk 
management processes.

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

N/A – any equality related risks pertaining 
to the individual services/projects that are 
reported in this paper, will be managed 
within the usual project/contract 
management processes.

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

N/A

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

There are a number of services/projects 
which are applicable to primary care 
general practice in Salford, however any 

Page 52



Question Answer
conflicts identified will be addressed and 
noted via the usual declaration process at 
the start of Adults Commissioning 
Committee.

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

None known

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once papers 
are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 53



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)



Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

P
age 54



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

Legal advice sought 

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

 Presented to Adults 
Commissioning Committee on 
Wednesday 9th September 
2020.

P
age 55



  

Integrated Care / Community Health Care Update

1. Executive summary
This paper provides an update on the integrated care programme and the work 
programme(s) of the Integrated Community Based Care Group (ICBCCG) and Adult’s 
Advisory Board (AAB) and End of Life Services for the months March 2020 to August 2020.

The paper offers a brief summary and overview of the current status of services taking into 
account the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to note the contents of the update provided.

2. Community Health Services Updates
2.1 Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the Integrated Community Based Care 

Commissioning Group (ICBCCG) has not met since 17th March. This decision was 
taken for a number of reasons, primarily because staff supporting and attending the 
meeting had either been redeployed or the focus of their work was changed. The last 
update from ICBCCG provided to Adult’s Commissioning Committee came in March 
2020 and so there are no decisions to report on at this time. The CCG is using 
alternative meetings like Adult’s Advisory Board and the Integration Board to support 
decisions which would previously have gone through ICBCCG.

2.2 As part of the national management of the pandemic, national guidance was issued 
in mid-March and updated in early April setting out how providers of community 
services could release capacity to support the COVID-19 preparedness and 
response. 

2.3 Community services were instructed that their priorities during this pandemic were to: 

 Support home discharge from acute and community beds, using mandated 
new Hospital Discharge Service Requirements, and ensure patients cared for 
at home receive urgent care when they need it 

 Use digital technology to provide advice and support to patients wherever 
possible 

Page 56



  

 Prioritise support for high-risk individuals advised to self-isolate for 12 weeks

 Mutual aid with health and social care partners

2.4 Guidance was given about which services to stop, partially stop and which to 
continue. The aim being to release staff capacity to support others services.

 
2.5 A national standard operating procedure for community services was published in 

mid-April. This described guidance on: 

 Home visits e.g. using separate staff for non-COVID-19 and 
COVID19/suspected COVID-19 

 Zoning within community facilities e.g. designated areas and workforce 

 Site designation to treat COVID-19 /suspected COVID-19 patients 

2.6 Implementation of this guidance had an impact on the services available to Salford 
residents. The local response includes the following, including some joint responses 
with primary care: 

 Reduced services for audiology, vision screening, health visiting, school 
nursing, therapy, community nursing and childhood immunisation 

 Daily integrated rapid discharge group established for detailed review of every 
patient, every day for improved coordination and flow of discharge from 
hospital. This includes discharged patients into community beds for further 
assessment 

 Continuous review and planning of patients with long lengths stay in hospital 

 Identification of responsible person for post-discharge follow-up calls 

 Redeployment of community nursing to form one pooled resource to support 
rapid discharge and care at home, with rapid and extensive expansion of care 
at home and end of life care. Extended hours of service, seven days a week. 
This is to ensure flow of people through the system and back home as soon 
as is safe 

 Redeployment of Allied Health Professionals (AHP) to form one pooled 
resource to support rapid discharge and reablement at home, with extended 
hours of service, seven days a week 

 Extended opening hours of equipment services 

 Enhanced in-reach of nursing and AHP care into Care Homes 

Page 57



  

 Care Homes daily call to facilitate enhanced offer of support and a practical 
focus on PPE, nursing and domestic support 

 Weekly Care homes virtual hub for support and practical advice, mutual aid, 
escalation of concerns 

 Care of the Elderly Physicians on call service to provide additional support to 
GPs particularly in the Care Homes Medical Practice 

 Development of primary/secondary care interface virtual meeting for overview 
and assurance 

 Block booked beds in care homes to expand community bed based capacity 
for expected increase in demand 

 An intermediate team of GPs and Advanced Nurse Practitioners formed with 
the aim of providing a hot COVID-19 hub, a cold COVID-19 hub, staff testing 
at AJ Bell, medical support for the Urgent Care Team, an acute home visiting 
service 

 Primary Care Digital hub launched, supported by face to face and digital 
consultations and proactive support to care homes 

 Additional support to undertake testing in care homes 

2.7 All community services are now working through a process of reinstating services 
and planning for an enhancement of community services to manage the rehabilitant 
needs of those who have had COVID-19 and those who have been shielded over the 
last few months. To assist with this Salford Care Organisation has set up a 
Community Recovery Cell which meets weekly. The cell will specifically undertake 
the following: 

 Review and sign off, of New / Revised Community Standard Operating 
Procedures (SOPs) associated with the COVID 19 Response and Recovery 
Plan 

 Approve the redesign of services alongside the recovery of services. Larger 
transformational items are out of scope 

 Monitor and evaluate the impact of the changes made 

2.8 Through the group many examples of good practice are emerging such as virtual / 
telephone consultations which will be maintained going forward and innovations such 
as group rehabilitation classes virtually within areas such as cardiac rehabilitation. 
Although virtual appointments will remain in place, risk assessments to enable the 

Page 58



  

resumption of face to face appointments for the most vulnerable / those with specific 
conditions have been approved for the following areas: 

 Children’s Outpatient Departments 

 District Nursing Service 

 Intermediate Care Units 

 Adult Social Care Community Occupational Therapy and wheelchair services 

 Occupational Therapy - high priority patients • Respiratory team - high risk 
patients requiring home oxygen 

 Speech and Language Therapists e.g. those with voice disorders, patients 
requiring swallowing rehabilitation etc. 

 Pelvic health appointments 

 Adult musculoskeletal (MSK) team 

2.9 On 31st July 2020 NHS England published a letter on the third phase of the NHS 
response to Covid. In relation to community services this letter states the following:

2.10 “General practice, community and optometry services should restore activity to usual 
levels where clinically appropriate, and reach out proactively to clinically vulnerable 
patients and those whose care may have been delayed.”

2.11 “Community health services crisis responsiveness should be enhanced in line with 
the goals set out in the Long Term Plan, and should continue to support patients who 
have recovered from the acute phase of Covid but need ongoing rehabilitation and 
other community health services. Community health teams should fully resume 
appropriate and safe home visiting care for all those vulnerable/shielding patients 
who need them”

2.12 “From 1 September 2020, hospitals and community health and social care partners 
should fully embed the discharge to assess processes.”1

1 NHS England, “Third phase of NHS response to Covid-19 letter” (31st July 2020)  
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2020/07/Phase-3-letter-July-31-2020.pdf

Page 59

https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2020/07/Phase-3-letter-July-31-2020.pdf


  

2.13 The CCG will be working with colleagues at SRFT, via various routes to ensure 
these measures are put in place and services continue to be stepped back up to pre-
Covid levels, where clinically appropriate and safe to do so.

3. End of Life Care
3.1 Specialist Palliative Care teams across Salford have given reassurance on how they 

had to adapt in response to the pandemic by immediately and effectively 
reorganising their approaches and putting in place remote working, particularly with 
more collaborative working across the service.  Staff amended their working patterns 
and environments to help cope with the increases in demand.  

3.2 In the hospital, electronic prescribing was key during the crisis; audits have been 
carried out of the medications used for Covid-19 patients at the end of life to 
demonstrate safe and consistent practice.  Increased use of digital equipment 
enhanced the patient, family and carer experience, e.g. relatives using iPads to 
communicate with inpatients in the absence of visiting.  The team developed rapid 
reviews of symptom management and principles of care and this was also adapted in 
the community.  

3.3 Staff completed risk assessments very early on for home and hospital visits and new 
processes i.e. the virtual registering of deaths helped streamline these procedures.  
As a result Covid-19 e-learning packages have been developed e.g. verification of 
death and care after death which will continue to be used going forwards.  

3.4 Families and carers have praised the teams on many occasions during this period of 
unprecedented numbers of deaths, particularly in the community.  Volunteers were 
recruited to deliver medications and documentation much quicker from the Salford 
Care Home Practice to all the care homes across the locality.  The practice also 
prioritised the completion of advance care plans (ACP) for those patients requiring 
one, in a timely and sensitive manner and all done remotely.

3.5 The hospital team was still able to deliver the Dying Matters campaign in May via 
internal communications, engaging staff and raising awareness during this difficult 

Page 60



  

time.  Telephone support for clients accessing the counselling support service has 
continued to work well and has decreased DNA rates.

3.6 In the community there has been an increase in the use of remote consultations by 
way of telephone and video to reduce the risk to vulnerable patients, which the team 
will continue with in the future and new guidance has been developed.  Senior staff 
have led coordinated calls each day with other team members whilst daily huddles 
and integrated MDT meetings have been re-established.  Weekly caseload reviews 
were reinvigorated ensuring support to staff and the team also reviewed how they 
will maintain support to primary care colleagues whilst working remotely.   

3.7 St Ann’s Hospice had to close their day centres and outpatient services and many 
staff were redeployed into different roles to ensure services were maintained.  
Volunteers had to be suspended and this has had a significant impact on inpatient 
services.  A new visitor policy had to be adopted with significant restrictions 
compared to pre-Covid operating procedure.  

3.8 The inpatient unit has continued to admit patients throughout the pandemic despite 
significant staffing shortages at times but these patients were assessed for risk and 
managed accordingly.  A virtual programme for day services is being developed to 
roll out across the organisation so that patients can again start to access support and 
education albeit remotely. The supportive outpatients service is offering telephone 
consultations with a move to video consultations planned.  

3.9 The hospice had three sitrep calls each week to update the lead and co-
commissioners on staffing, numbers of patients etc.  These are now currently stood 
down to one per week.

3.10 Palliative care teams from the hospital, community and hospice continue to have 
monthly planning meetings via Microsoft Teams which the CCG commissioning 
manager also attends. 

Page 61



  

4. Integrated Care Transformation Programme Report
4.1 The delivery and assurance of the Salford integrated care transformation programme 

was measured against a number of material conditions as set out in the GM 
Investment Agreement and this included the delivery of 10 agreed outcome 
indicators. Although the Greater Manchester Transformation Fund Programme has 
now ended routine monitoring of the indicators continues to be in place and was last 
reported to the Adult’s Advisory Board on 14th July. Performance as at April 2020 
was reported as follows (the impact of Covid can already be seen in these figures):

GMIA Indicator  Performance  Rating* 
Non-Elective Admissions  1% above plan  AMBER 
AED Attendances  4% above plan  PINK 
Elective Admissions  2.9% below plan  GREEN 
Total Outpatient Appts  1.9% below plan  GREEN 
Diagnosis Rate for 
Dementia  4% below plan (May 20)  RED 
Deaths in Usual Place of 
residence  2.9% below plan (19-20)  RED 

Permanent Admissions to 
Care Homes 

 122.5 (rate) above plan – 
947.5 against a plan of 
825.2 (19-20) 

 RED 

Primary care prescribing  5.6% below plan  GREEN 
Total number of care home 
placements  3.5% above plan (19-20)  RED 
Median LOS in care 
homes  15.8% above plan (19-20)  RED 
CQC rating  14.3% below plan (19-20)  GREEN 
Drugs monitored in-line 
with shared protocol (GP 
practice) 

 100% (19-20)  GREEN 

 

4.2 At this same Adult’s Advisory Board meeting the final AQuA end of programme 
evaluation of the Salford Together: Adults Integrated Care Programme (ICP) was 
also presented (See Appendix A for summary slides). The evaluation covers the 12 
Test of Change projects implemented between 2017 and 2020. The evaluation 
states that key findings and insights across the Integrated Care Programme indicate 
a range of positive patient outcomes and experience, workforce and system 
efficiencies. Questions were raised in stakeholder interviews regarding the scale, 

Page 62



  

sustainability and timing of impacts and there remains a challenge with attributing 
causation at the programme level in complex programmes. 

4.3 Adult’s Commissioning Committee approved the proposals and associated funding to 
continue to develop new models of care for 20/21-2021/22 following the three year 
adults programme of service transformation to develop new models of care in Salford 
which was completed in 2019/20. This covered two areas of development; 
neighbourhoods and intermediate care (extended care).

4.4 The aim for neighbourhoods was to develop Integrated Neighbourhood Teams and 
multidisciplinary working by adding therapy, specialist frailty support, pharmacy and 
mental health to neighbourhoods. The aim of the intermediate care transformation 
was to continue to develop the Salford urgent response offer and to increase the 
capacity of the Homesafe team to support discharge home safely sooner.

4.5 As with many schemes the progress of transformation phase two has been impacted 
by Covid-19 with some areas accelerating and some pausing. There is a focus on 
recovery and new targets as part of phase two /three responses including care at 
home, reduced bed occupancy, out-patient activity and A&E.

4.6 The following table was shared at Adult’s Advisory Board on 11th August and details 
the progress with transformation phase 2 to August:

Neighbourhoods - Objectives Update at August 2020
i. Expand the existing Integrated 

Neighbourhood Teams (INT), which 
are district nurses and social workers, 
through the addition and co-location of 
leadership, therapy, pharmacy and 
mental health (building on the learning 
from the Enhanced Care Team). 

The Community Rehabilitation Team 
was redeployed during Covid but 
resumed in July. There has now been 
some recruitment to the additional 
therapy posts and other posts are in 
the recruitment process. 

ECT staff consultation is in progress 
with options for redeployment.  

The mental health and pharmacy posts 
have not been advertised however job 
descriptions are agreed.

ii. Develop approaches to joint A task and finish group has met on 

Page 63



  

assessment, care planning and review 
within both the INT and with the wider 
neighbourhood health services 
including Primary Care and VCSE 
sector (building on the learning from 
the MDGs). Also known as Pro-active 
Care

three occasions to plan a model for 
proactive care.

MDGs previous operating model (two 
meetings per month meetings with 
patient lists) has been stood down in 
Covid. Joint assessment and care 
planning is now on individualised 
patient basis with the communication 
adjusted to the respective patient 
needs in order to be responsive. A 
number of MDT meetings have been 
held for patients with test of change is 
in progress. Documentation is being 
considered as part of this. 

MS Teams (virtual meetings) were 
tested effectively during Covid which 
was a prior proposal for communication 
around joint care. 

Data sharing agreements are being 
reviewed and revised. 

iii. Establish a joint neighbourhood 
leadership team to plan and oversee 
population health management in the 
neighbourhood (building on the 
leadership development programme to 
date)

Leadership team established prior to 
Pandemic and was meeting regularly

The neighbourhood leadership team 
meetings were paused in Covid 
(although some of the leadership team 
project work continued). The meetings 
are to reconvene in Sept and an 
update on the projects is scheduled at 
AAB.

iv. Provide specialist input in 
neighbourhoods from Geriatrician and 
Nurse Consultant for very complex or 
frail patients who would benefit from 

New A&G function established for 
Geriatrician support. The nurse 
consultant is redeployed to 

Page 64



  

additional support (complex care). Intermediate Care currently. 
Geriatrician current input into 
communities is continuing. 

v. Embed Strengths Based Approaches 
across the neighbourhood through 
implementation of Community Led 
Support

Adult Social Care response is testing a 
new proportionate assessment and 
ways of meeting need differently, using 
community assets

Intermediate Care - Objectives Update at August 2020
i. Develop Integrated Community Urgent 

Response Team through combining 
Urgent Care Team and Rapid 
Response Service (also known as 
Step-up). 

Merging of team has been enacted and 
comms are planned.
During Covid vacancies were filled 
through redeployment. 
Test of Change has taken place with 
GP input and NHS 111 calls now 
filtered to Primary Care Hub
Intriduction of Manchester Triage 
Scheme and performance dashboard 
work to be completed by end of 
September.
Hospital at Home Test of Change 
started

ii. Expand ‘Homesafe’ function with 
improved staffing capacity to support 
patients to be discharged home safely 
sooner with for re-ablement, 
rehabilitation and support for health 
and wellbeing.

Capacity increased in Covid through 
redeployment however staff now 
returning to roles.
Also during Covid a homecare bridging 
service was commissioned through 
BeCared4 agency which proved 
effective in supporting discharge home.
Housing Officer in post and supporting 
patients.

Page 65



  

5. Salford Adults Strategic System Priorities (2020/21)
5.1 On 11th August the Director of Integration, SRFT, Salford Care Organisation 

presented the following draft, strategic system wide community services prioritisation 
plans to the Adult’s Advisory Board. The plans fit into the Integrated Community work 
stream of the Adults Strategic System Priorities (2020/21) (See appendix B).

Priority: Integrated Community - part a – community/ neighbourhood 
support

Workstream Objective 
1. Integrated 

Teams To develop Integrated Teams in order to 
provide an integrated therapy, mental health, 
pharmacy social work and nursing team. 

2. MDT working To develop effective systems and processes 
for joint holistic management of complex 
patients, including timely responsive MDT 
communication and specialist in-reach 
according to needs

3. Complex care To provide additional support to patients 
identified from MDT working with very 
complex needs through provision of specialist 
community clinics /home visiting 

4. Community 
services 
supporting 
people at 
home

Ensure community services are optimally 
functioning together to respond quickly and 
effectively  supporting people at home so 
avoiding emergency attendance or admission 
to hospital 

Outline 
plan for 
2020/21 

5. Community 
services 
supporting 
people at 
home

Ensure community services are optimally 
functioning together to respond quickly and 
effectively supporting people so they can be 
discharged safely from hospital with 
necessary community at home support. 

Page 66



  

6. Social 
prescribing 
and strengths 
based

Embed social prescribing in MDT working 
arrangements and ensure use of community 
assets is part of the pathways

Priority: Integrated Community - part b - planned care

Workstream Objective 
6. Community 

Diagnostics To look at what investigations/ diagnostics 
can be delivered in community settings rather 
than in the hospital initially looking at high 
volume non-complex diagnostics being in first 
phase e.g. ECG, event monitor, echo, 24 hr 
BP, spirometry with reversibility, FENO, 
phlebotomy.

7. Salford Portal Introduce communication portal which will 
include urgent and non-urgent Advice and 
Guidance with an aim that by the end of 
2020/2021, A&G will be the default start of 
referral pathways for all standard out-patient 
clinics.

8. Single point of 
access Scope a single point of access for community 

services (urgent /non urgent) and ensure 
alignment with local Community Assessment 
Service (CAS)

Outline 
plan for 
2020/21 

9. Specialist  in-
reach / clinics Introduce /test alternative approaches to the 

delivery of out-patient clinics that lessen visits 
to hospital sites

Page 67



  

6. Recommendations
6.1 The Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Note the contents of this report

Name (Author): Tori Quinn

Job title: Acting Head of Service Improvement (ICS)

Page 68



Salford Together:  
Integrated Care Programme 2016-2020  
End of Programme Evaluation Report 

Adult Advisory Board 
14/07/2020 

 

 
Dr Eileen McDonach  

Evaluation Programme Lead  

Advancing Quality Alliance 

P
age 69



Background 

• Evaluation Report: Salford Together’s Adults  
Integrated Care Programme (ICP) 

• ICP funded by Greater Manchester (GM) Health and 
Social Care Partnership in October 2016. 

• Twelve, transformation ‘test of change’ projects,  
implemented 2017-2020. 

• Projects focussed on priorities of integrated care: 

1. improving access to GP & community services; 

2. providing care closer to home 

3. improving care pathways; and 

4. developing Neighbourhood teams 

• Anticipated benefits of ICP programme included: 

 Improved patient and staff experience 

 Improved patient outcomes 

 More efficient use of system resources,  
including urgent and emergency services 

Salford Together partnership: 
Salford City Council, NHS Salford CCG, Salford Royal  
NHS Foundation Trust, Salford Primary Care  
Together, Greater Manchester (GM) Mental Health  
NHS Foundation Trust and Salford Community and  
Voluntary Service (CVS). 

*2014 Older Persons ICP  

Salford Vanguard 

*July 2016  

Launch of ICO 

*2017-2019 

Adults ICP 

P
age 70



Salford ICP Context 

• Salford has a population of around 242,000. 

• Salford’s population 50+ years is expected to  
increase from 75,600 in 2014 to 97,100 in 2035. 

• 21% approx. of Salford population currently have  
a long-term condition (LTC). 

• Expected to be 2.5 times increase in people aged 
over 65 living with one or more LTCs by 2050. 

• Nearly three quarters of Salford people live in  
areas classed as deprived, when compared  
nationally. 

• Health and wellbeing outcomes are generally  
worse than national averages in Salford. 

• Life expectancy is lower than the average for  
England, with a difference of up to 14 years  
across the City. 

 
Source: Salford Together, 2020 

1. Ordsall and Claremont 
2. Swinton 
3. Broughton 
4. Eccles and Irlam 
5. Walkden and Little Hulton 

Salford’s five localities with neighbourhood 
teams for health and social care: 

P
age 71



Key Events in Salford’s Integrated Care Approach 

April 2015 Salford becomes one of eight national Primary and Acute Care (PACs) NHS England 
Vanguards to test new models of care. 

March 2016 Review of Older Persons Programme to inform next steps - Integrated Care. 

April 2016 The pooled budget was extended to adult services and a new Integrated Care plan for 
adults was developed. 

April 2016 New arrangements for Salford GPs and City Councilors to work alongside each other to 
plan/monitor local services. Advisory Board of Salford Together partners formed to  
oversee integrated care transformation. 

July 2016 2,000 + staff from Salford NHS organisations and Council brought together to create 
one of the first Integrated Care Organisations (ICO) in England. 

Oct 2016 £18.2million transformation funding awarded to Salford by GM Health and Social Care 
Partnership to support developing new models of care. 

2016 All GP practices agreed to work together in 5 neighbourhoods. 

2016 Salford Primary Care Together established; Community Interest Company to drive 
collaboration among GP practices -component of integration. 

2017 - 2020 Implementation of a programme of 12 projects to test new models of care with 
embedded evaluation (provided by Haelo and latterly AQuA) 

2019 Pooled budget extended to create Integrated Fund - encompassed children’s and public 
health. Governance/ commissioning revised to reflect 

P
age 72



Integrated Care Programme (ICP) Structure: 12 Projects 

Extended/ Intermediate Care Pathways of Care Neighbourhood Integration 

Urgent Care Team (UCT) MSK/ Back Pain Pathway Enhanced Care Team (ECT) 

Housing Support in Hospital Falls Prevention Neighbourhood Leadership 

Centre of Contact (CoC) Enhanced Carer Support Mental Health in Neighbourhoods 

GP Streaming/ 

Urgent Treatment Centre 

Advice & Guidance pilot VCSE Voices Matter 

P
age 73



Evaluation Approach 

2. Summative Evaluation: 
• Collates project and system data, learning from  

Project Milestone and RCE meetings, insights from  
senior leaders interviews * (n=15) : 

• 3 primary Evaluation questions*: 

1. To what extent the intended outcomes of the  
projects and programme have been achieved? 

2. To what extent the mechanisms for improvement 
were an effective means of achieving them? 

3. What key learning could be transferred to other  
programmes or environment? 

1. Formative Evaluation: 
• Rapid Cycle Evaluation (RCE) (Parry et al, 2013)  

designed to inform development & implementation  
of individual projects. 

• Structured RCE meetings with key stakeholders to  
review emergent findings, theory of change and  
enable timely and targeted action. 

• Range of quantitative and qualitative methods. 

• Co-produced Evaluation Project reports (12 months) 

• Developing Capability and Capacity 

*Considers GM Themes ‘Taking Charge’ evaluation but ICP  
predates. 
*AQuA commissioned SQW: senior leaders involved in Salford  
Together ICP (Nov 2019-Mar2020) 
*In addition to project specific data, Salford Together  
commissioned Healthwatch to undertake independent collation  
of patient experience through case studies, reported separately:  
https://www.salfordtogether.com/category/casestudies/ 

P
age 74

http://www.salfordtogether.com/category/casestudies/


Key Findings: Points to Note 

• Large scale change and population-wide improvement  
initiatives known to take considerable time to deliver  
results. 

• Dynamic context & change in Salford since ICP began in  
2016: Integrated Care Organisation (ICO), Mental Health  
Trust merger, Salford Primary Care Together model change  
and the establishment of Primary Care Networks (PCNs). 

• Direct attribution of changes in key system metrics presents  
challenge – knowing what would have happened if an  
initiative was not in place. 

• ICP involved multiple, complex initiatives - difficult to  
disentangle. Other system initiatives also taking place  
during same time. 

• Several ICP projects were also smaller tests of change in  
specific neighbourhoods, and therefore not expected to  
have impacted at scale. 

• The formative / summative evaluation approach provides  
useful insights to understand potential contribution of  
individual project interventions to programme aspirations. 

Evaluation Questions: 
1.To what extent the intended  
outcomes of the projects and  
programme have been achieved? 

 

2.To what extent improvement  
mechanisms were an effective  
means of achieving them? 

 

3.What key learning could be  
transferred to other programmes or  
environment? 

P
age 75



Key Findings Q1: Programme Level Outcomes 

• Reviewed two outcome indicators:  
GM Investment Agreement Plan: non-  
elective admissions (NEL) and A&E  
attendances which relate to project  
level activity. 

• Latest GM investment agreement  
data available using Nov 2019 SLAM  
data reported at AAB Feb 2020* 

• NEL admissions 3.7% below plan 

• A&E Attendances 0.1% above plan – 
N.B. considered against population  
increase, decline of 0.7% from the  
baseline year is reported. 

• Projections set within context of large  
increase in registered population in  
Salford (Harding, 2020). 

• Plan includes projected figures for a  
‘do nothing’ scenario - useful  
indicator of underlying demand. 

48.0 

44.0 

40.0 

36.0 

32.0 

28.0 

24.0 

A
p

r- 1
5

  
M

ay
-

1
5

  
Ju

n
-1

5
  

Ju
l-

1
5

  
A

u
g-

1
5

  
Se

p
-1

5
  

O
ct

-1
5

  
N

o
v-

15
  

D
ec

-1
5

  
Ja

n
-1

6
  

Fe
b

-1
6

  
M

ar
-1

6
  

A
p

r-
1

6
  

M
ay

-
1

6
  

Ju
n

-1
6

  
Ju

l-
1

6
  

A
u

g-
1

6
  

Se
p

-1
6

  
O

ct
-1

6
  

N
o

v-
16

  
D

ec
-1

6
  

Ja
n

-1
7

  
Fe

b
-1

7
  

M
ar

-1
7

  
A

p
r-

1
7

  
M

ay
-

1
7

  
Ju

n
-1

7
  

Ju
l-

1
7

  
A

u
g-

1
7

  
Se

p
-1

7
  

O
ct

-1
7

  
N

o
v-

17
  

D
ec

-1
7

  
Ja

n
-1

8
  

Fe
b

-1
8

  
M

ar
-1

8
  

A
p

r-
1

8
  

M
ay

-
1

8
  

Ju
n

-1
8

  
Ju

l-
1

8
  

A
u

g-
1

8
  

Se
p

-1
8

  
O

ct
-1

8
  

N
o

v-
18

  
D

ec
-1

8
  

Ja
n

-1
9

  
Fe

b
-1

9
  

M
ar

-1
9

  
A

p
r-

1
9

  
M

ay
-

1
9

  
Ju

n
-1

9
  

Ju
l-

1
9

  
A

u
g-

1
9

  
Se

p
-1

9
  

O
ct

-1
9

  
N

o
v-

1
9 

= 

LCL = 26.6 

Mean = 37.6 

- - - Trend Line 

GMIA 01a. Non-elective admissions average per day by month vs rate  
per 100,000 population Source: SLAM 

UCL = 47.8 

Mean = 36.9 

LCL = 26 

7300 

7800 

8300 

8800 

9300 

9800 

10300 

10800 

A
p

r- 1
5

  
M

ay
-

1
5

  
Ju

n
-1

5
  

Ju
l-

1
5

  
A

u
g-

1
5

  
Se

p
-1

5
  

O
ct

-1
5

  
N

o
v-

15
  

D
ec

-1
5

  
Ja

n
-1

6
  

Fe
b

-1
6

  
M

ar
-1

6
  

A
p

r-
1

6
  

M
ay

-
1

6
  

Ju
n

-1
6

  
Ju

l-
1

6
  

A
u

g-
1

6
  

Se
p

-1
6

  
O

ct
-1

6
  

N
o

v-
16

  
D

ec
-1

6
  

Ja
n

-1
7

  
Fe

b
-1

7
  

M
ar

-1
7

  
A

p
r-

1
7

  
M

ay
-

1
7

  
Ju

n
-1

7
  

Ju
l-

1
7

  
A

u
g-

1
7

  
Se

p
-1

7
  

O
ct

-1
7

  
N

o
v-

17
  

D
ec

-1
7

  
Ja

n
-1

8
  

Fe
b

-1
8

  
M

ar
-1

8
  

A
p

r-
1

8
  

M
ay

-
1

8
  

Ju
n

-1
8

  
Ju

l-
1

8
  

A
u

g-
1

8
  

Se
p

-1
8

  
O

ct
-1

8
  

N
o

v-
18

  
D

ec
-1

8
  

Ja
n

-1
9

  
Fe

b
-1

9
  

M
ar

-1
9

  
A

p
r-

1
9

  
M

ay
-

1
9

  
Ju

n
-1

9
  

Ju
l-

1
9

  
A

u
g-

1
9

  
Se

p
-1

9
  

O
ct

-1
9

  
N

o
v-

1
9 

GMIA 02. A & E Attendances Source: SLAM 

UCL = 10462.6 

LCL = 7732.5 

Mean = 9007.6 

UCL = 9427 

Mean = 8860.4 

LCL = 8293.8 

*Projections relates to pre-COVID19 context. AAB paused March 2020  
due to Covid-19 

P
age 76



Key Findings Q1: Programme Level Outcomes 

o 

o 

• AQuA team compared A&E attendances for  
Salford CCG residents with those of peer CCGs in  
England identified as suitable comparators with  
Salford. HES data was only available for the full  
years of 17/18 and 18/19. 

Indicated reductions in A&E attendances for both  
Salford and peer group as a whole; but reduction in  
Salford was at a greater rate. Had Salford had the  
same rate as the overall peer group then would have  
been just under 3,400 more attendances in the year. 

If assume average cost for attendances is £148  
equates to financial savings of approx. £0.5m. This  
provides some validation of results reported by  
project leads/programme team, but high level  
observation which doesn’t prove direct causation. 

• AQuA team independently analysed NEL  
attendances (April 2011- Jan 2020) and A&E  
attendances (April 2017- Oct 2019) using HES  
data and found no discernible difference in trends  
for Salford compared with GM or England. 

P
age 77



Key Findings Q1: Senior Leader Insights 

• Interviews with senior leaders from Salford  
Together (n=15) were mapped to the key GM  
Transformation Evaluation Themes by SQW. Full  
details in report. 

• Perceived benefits of robust governance  
arrangements in Salford, shared understanding,  
history of partnership working and perceived  
innovation were noted. 

• Later inclusion of voluntary sector (in 2018) and  
perceived culture of innovation in Salford as well  
as an on-going desire among partners to “stay  
ahead of the game” were also highlighted. 

• Challenges reported included maintaining  
progress on culture change and integrated  
working among frontline/ operational staff as well  
as evidencing impact within Transformation  
funding timeframes. 

“So, we have a strong system, that over a  
period of time has shown we can work well  
together and that’s important because it’s not  
easy to do…. we’ve tested over time that the  
system is stronger than individuals, because  
significant individuals at times in that few  
years have moved on, but the system has  
stayed strong.” [LA interviewee] 

Parts of the work of Salford Together have  
certainly started to shape and change the way  
we all… work together as part of it, and have a  
shared vision for integration and a shared 
vision of making people’s lives better … I think  
different parts of the system have a slightly  
different view on how it can be done, but  
actually we’d started to do better and  
collaborate and challenge each other... That 
enabled things to change.” [Other interviewee] 

“The challenge we have is how we move from  
those cases where things have gone well, move  
from those smaller numbers to how to improve  
things across the city for everyone.” [CCG  
interviewee] 

P
age 78



Key Findings Q1: Project Level Findings 

Better use of system resources: 
o Reductions in A&E attendances reported in four  

projects. Issue of small numbers and/ or concurrent  
initiatives. 

o Reductions in non-elective admissions (NEL) were  
reported in two projects. Issue of small numbers 

 

Improved patient outcomes: 
o Improvements in patient outcomes and quality of life  

measures were reported in several projects. Urgent  
Care Team reported achieving their aim of settling  
patients at home (and avoiding A&E attendances) in  
76% of caseload. 

 

Improved patient and staff experience: 
o Improvements in experience reported in several  

projects. 

o Healthwatch commissioned independently to capture  
patient experience of being involved in ICP  
https://www.salfordtogether.com/category/casestudies/. 

o Impact: 

Barriers to Change (RCE Meetings): 
o Structures, Governance, Accountability: 

• Uncertainty about governance, reporting  
structures, new roles , service aims 

o Workforce: 
• Recruitment/retention issues: staffing and  

capacity for some new models of working 
• Communication and Engagement  

challenges: particularly in relation to  
referrals and/or GP engagement 

• Estates challenges: accommodation limited  
to enable co-location and joint working 
 
 

• Demand/ forecasting and data availability –  
referrals lower than expected 

• Attribution of causation-linked interventions 
• IM& T systems and interoperability 
• Data: Access, quality and complexity 

P
age 79

http://www.salfordtogether.com/category/casestudies/
http://www.salfordtogether.com/category/casestudies/


Key Findings Q2: Mechanisms for Improvement 

Salford Together stakeholders identified a number of key themes in relation to ‘facilitators’ and  
‘barriers’ to change within their final Milestone Meeting (October 2019): 

Facilitators: 
• Leadership (clear vision) 
• Strong pre-existing relationships in Salford  

(trust/commitment/communication) 
• Transformation Funding 
• Willingness to think and do things 

differently 
• Timing/environment 
• Ongoing evaluation - iterative learning  

enabling timely adaptation of plans 

Barriers to Change: 
• Stakeholder engagement - key groups e.g. GPs 
• VCSE engagement – later than preferred 
• Workforce issues: recruitment/retention 
• IT systems and data sharing/ inter-operability 
• National/ local changes e.g. NCA creation 
• Challenge of measurement/ realistic outcomes/  

impact at scale 
• Balancing transformation with externally  

mandated pressures 
• Good integrated working at strategic level but  

less clear at a patient/service user /front line  
service level 

• Social Care integration 

P
age 80



Key Findings Q3: Learning & Recommendations 

Key Learning: 

• Rapid cycle evaluation: several ICP projects  
continuing as planned, or with adaptations -  
relevant business cases developed. 

• Requires resource and commitment to develop  
capability alongside delivery. 

• Key findings/ insights across ICP programme  
indicates range of positive patient outcomes and  
experience, workforce and system efficiencies. 

• Questions raised in stakeholder interviews over scale,  
sustainability and timing of impacts. 

• Challenge remains of attributing causation at the  
programme level in complex programmes 

• Maintaining drive and innovation reported by  
leaders and ensuring a shared vision among  
operational and frontline staff are important  
questions for Salford Together partners in their  
future plans. 

o 

Key Recommendations: 

1. Programme design and measurement: 
o Alignment of project outcomes/ impact with  

pre-set programme system metrics to better  
understand individual and cumulative project  
activities alongside patient, staff and  
economic perspectives. 

2. Implementation and engagement: 
o Robust assessment and optimisation of known  

enablers and mitigation of known barriers. 

Targeted, resourced and adaptive engagement  
and communication strategy 

3. Neighbourhood learning: 
o Follow up neighbourhood leadership teams’  

views and experiences of the programme,  
their individual projects, support they  
received and impact on integrated working. 

4. Evaluation approach: 
o Formal ‘readiness for evaluation’ assessment 

o Inclusion of quality appraisal process 

o Review programme team’s experience of RCE  
and reflections on ICP Theory of Change 

P
age 81



Acknowledgements 

• All the patients, service users, staff, organisations and partners who participated in and/or helped  
facilitate the evaluation 

• Salford Together programme and project managers, members of the individual project teams,  
and partners who co-produced individual project evaluations and reports, upon which this final  
report is based: 

• Sarah Cannon, Senior Programme Manager, Integrated Care, Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

• June Roberts, Divisional Associate Director Transformation, Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust 

• Bev MacKay, Project Support Officer 

• Pam Emmens, Project Support Officer 

• Paul Hardman, Senior Project Manager (ECT) 

• Sarah McKiernan, Senior Project Manager (UCT) 

• Ben Colman, Senior Project Manager 

• Bruce Poole, Salford Together VCSE Partnership Lead, Alison Page, CE, Salford VCS 

• Tammy Young, Lead MH project (GMMH) 

• Evaluation Team: Haelo/ AQuA - Evaluation Manager, Research Officers, Head of Innovation and 
Consultancy, Associate Directors, Senior Improvement Advisor, Measurement and analytics. 

• Sarah Brown and Lauren Roberts, SQW qualitative interviews to support this  evaluation. 

• Dr Maria Kordowicz, Dr Julie Reed, Dr Andrew Carsons-Stevens - AQuA’s Evaluation Panel. 

• Thanks also to the Members of the Adult Advisory Board and funders, Salford Together. 

P
age 82



Salford Adults Strategic System Priorities (2020/21)

Covid 
Response

Capacity & Winter Planning

Restarting Services/'Build Back Better & Fairer'

Service back logs/long waiters/demand increases

Adults Strategic System Priorities (2020/21) 

ASC Market 
Shaping

Care Homes
Home Care

Prevention

Place Holder

Integrated 
Community

Wellbeing Matters,  
Intergrated 

Community  Teams,
--------------------

 Community based  
(Hospital/

community/GP) 
Asessment & 
Diagnostics

Urgent Care 
Redesign

Hospital, 
Community, 

Mental Health & 
Primary Care 
Urgent Care 

Services

Primary/Community 
Mental Health

Living Well
Wellbeing Matters

Cross cutting priorities: Tackling Inequalities, Digital, Estates and Innovation, Improvement & Research

Pu
bl

ic
 E

ng
ag

em
en

t &
 A

dd
re

ss
in

g 
In

eq
ua

lit
ie

s

Design Principles: Strength Based Approach, Neighbourhood Delivery, Social Value, Environmental Sustainability

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Sy

st
em

 P
ar

tn
er

s:
  C

CG
, C

ou
nc

il,
 C

VS
, G

M
M

H,
 L

M
C,

 P
CN

s,
 S

PC
T 

&
 S

RF
T

P
age 83



Salford Adults Strategic System Priorities (2020/21)

Next Steps

2-3 individuals per workstream/column to draft proposed scope/leadership, 
SROs/governance/timescale 

Prioritise the Priorities? – at least in speed of delivery

Ensure link to Covid Recovery work e.g. NCA Recovery Cells

Confirm Governance – Adults Advisory Board & Adults Commissioning Committee

Take forward various Primary Care workstreams identified at the workshops via Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee Governance

Other work to be carried out within individual organisations.

P
age 84



Adult Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 7

Item for: Information 

9 September 2020 

Report of: Karen Proctor

Date of paper: 27 August 2020

Subject: Adult Commissioning Report

In case of query please contact: Harry Golby harry.golby@nhs.net

Strategic priorities 

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: 

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7

mailto:harry.golby@nhs.net


Purpose of paper: 

This paper provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult 
Commissioning Committee is kept abreast of developments and progress.

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

This paper provides an overview of a 
number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to 
adult health and care to ensure Adult 
Commissioning Committee is kept abreast 
of developments and progress

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

N/A

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

N/A

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

N/A

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

N/A

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

N/A

Footnote:

Page 86



Members of Adult Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once papers 
are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 87



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

X

P
age 88



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

X

Legal advice sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 89



  

Adult Commissioning Report

1. Executive summary

This paper provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult 
Commissioning Committee is kept abreast of developments and progress.  
This paper updates on Salford’s:

 Urgent & Emergency Care redesign,

 Lung Health Check pilot

Adult Commissioning Committee will receive full updates on each of 
these areas of work later in the year, this report just provides brief 
highlights.

2. Urgent & Emergency Care Redesign
2.1. Improving the way urgent care, advice and treatment is delivered featured in the 

annual plan and priorities Adult Commissioning Committee approved in July 2020.  
2.2. The ambition to transform urgent and emergency care has been longstanding.  The 

pandemic makes it even more important – services have made changes to deliver 
safe care in the context of COVID-19, overcrowded emergency departments cannot 
be tolerated because of the risks of transmission of the virus.  Historically significant 
numbers of patients have presented to A&E with low complexity care needs that can 
be met by other services. 

2.3. The development of ‘Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) by Appointment’ is 
anticipated to support the management of flow into A&E departments; direct patients 
to other services more appropriate for their condition and reduce the number of A&E 
attendances.  ‘Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) by Appointment’ will provide the 
option for patients to call a local Clinical Assessment Service to help them access 
the most appropriate service, rather than attend A&E if that is not the best service for 
their condition. Patients will be encouraged to “Talk before you walk” – call 111 and 

Page 90



  

through that route speak to the local assessment service rather than self-present to 
A&E.

2.4. Locally the urgent care redesign programme is led by the CCG’s Director of Quality 
& Innovation, with input and support from across the Salford health and social care 
system.  Clinical services across Salford have been working together to develop a 
comprehensive set of pathways and services. 

2.1. A number of ‘Tests of Change’ have been carried out at the A&E front door to 
support the aspiration of directing patients to more appropriate services. A number of 
deflections / streaming services have been tested and new pathways developed to 
provide the best possible outcomes for the patients.  This is helping to establish the 
potential impact of such an approach and to identify the operational practicalities of 
introducing it.  Salford-wide test of change days were carried out on Monday 3 
August and Tuesday 18 August.  

2.2. Across Greater Manchester the ambition is to maintain emergency department 
attendances at 25% less than historic, pre-pandemic levels – Salford’s tests of 
change days suggest this level of ambition may be deliverable in practice.  Patient 
and clinician feedback has been positive.  

2.3. The urgent care redesign will progress over the coming weeks, in order to become 
established prior to winter.  Some of the local services, for example Salford’s Clinical 
Assessment Service, are not recurrently funded so commissioning decisions may be 
required. Adult Commissioning Committee will receive a full update in November 
2020.

  

3. Restart of Salford Lung Health Check Pilot
3.1. Salford’s Lung Health Check service commenced, as a pilot, in September 2019.  

The service aims to systematically check for early onset of respiratory diseases. It is 
targeted to individuals who are aged 55–74 yrs and are current or previous smokers 
or for whom smoking status is unknown by their GP.

3.2. By March 2021, 2,417 patients had accepted their invitation to attend for a Lung 
Health Check. From this, 16 lung cancers were detected and five other cancers were 
detected. These are cancers that may otherwise have gone undetected for some 
time. Several other non-malignant respiratory illnesses have also been identified and 
all smokers were offered support to stop smoking.

3.3. The service was suspended in March 2020 due to COVID, but restarted on the 10 
August, albeit using telephone assessments rather than face to face appointments. 
Previously cancelled patients are being assessed first and everything seems to be 
going well with all telephone slots fully booked so far. If a CT scan is indicated at 

Page 91



  

assessment this still has to take place in person at the hospital. Dedicated CT slots 
have been made available to support the re-opening of the LHC service and these 
are COVID safe and secure.

3.4. The Salford pilot was commissioned locally.  On 28 March 2020 Salford received 
notification that the National Cancer Board had approved the expansion of the 
national Targeted Lung Health Checks Programme to include 7 existing projects, 
including the Salford pilot.  The national commitment to lung health checks has 
recently been re-emphasised in August 20 COVID recovery planning guidance. 

4. Recommendations
7.1 Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Note the updates

Harry Golby

Assistant Director of Commissioning

Page 92


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 8th July 2020
	4 Finance Report
	5 Mental Health Update
	6 Integrated Care / Community Update
	06 - Appendix A
	06 - Appendix B

	7 Adult Commissioning Report

